

Report to Congress

Evaluation of the HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration Program and the New Congregate Housing Services Program

Visit PD&R's Web Site www.huduser.org

to find this report and others sponsored by HUD's Office of Policy Development and Research (PD&R). Other services of HUD USER, PD&R's Research Information Service, include listservs; special interest, bimonthly publications (best practices, significant studies from other sources); access to public use databases; hotline 1-800-245-2691 for help accessing the information you need.

Report to Congress

Evaluation of the HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration Program and the New Congregate Housing Services Program

Prepared for: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Policy Development and Research

> Prepared by: Robert C. Ficke Susan G. Berkowitz

> > Westate Rockville, MD

> > > June 2000

-

Foreword

HUD serves the low- and very-low income frail elderly in assisted housing. The increase in the number of elderly as well as the aging in place has significant implications for HUD, from the allocation of housing units and services to the formulation of policy that efficiently caters to elderly needs. In response to a Congressional request, HUD studied housing programs which are alternatives to institutionalization or other more restrictive environments.

This report, mandated by the 1990 Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act, summarizes and compares the results of two long-term evaluations of HUD housing programs for seniors: the New Congregate Housing Services Program (CHSP) and the HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration Program (HOPE IV). Both these programs, combined rental assistance with case management and supportive services to help low- and very low-income, frail elderly renters enhance their quality of life and remain independent.

A key feature of both programs was the provision of a Service Coordinator who was responsible for designing and implementing case management, coordinating Section 8 and building management activities, and forging relationships with other agencies and community organizations to arrange for the provision of services.

The programs targeted those at risk of being institutionalized, who could be served by delivery of home care or services in a community setting. Both programs served very frail elderly persons - those that are much frailer than non-institutionalized elderly persons in the general population. Despite their frail condition and chronic health problems, the majority of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants took part in activities and enjoyed social contact. Most participants in both programs were satisfied with the services they receive and many credited the programs with making it possible for them to live independently. Both programs were equally successful in prolonging life and forestalling institutionalization.

This research will help the Department develop cost-effective policies to address the complex issues in helping America's growing frail elderly population to live independently outside institutions.

Susan M. Wachter

Assistant Secretary for Policy Development and Research

Acknowledgements

This report compares the findings from two HUD program evaluations: The HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration Program (HOPE IV) and the New Congregate Housing Services Program (CHSP). Westat conducted the HOPE IV evaluation, and Robert Ficke and Susan Berkowitz served as Co-Principal Investigators. The CHSP evaluation was conducted by the Research Triangle Institute, and we acknowledge the considerable effort that Janet Griffith, Project Director, Leslie Stewart, and Angela Green provided in conducting this research.

The two program evaluations and this *Report to Congress* were sponsored by the Office of Policy Development and Research, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. All of these studies benefited greatly from the thoughtful guidance of Priscila Prunella, the Government's Technical Representative, and we appreciate her stewardship throughout the course of these research projects.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

E	XECUTIV	VE SUMMARY	
1.	INTRO	DUCTION	1-1
	1.1 The	HOPE FOR ELDERLY INDEPENDENCE DEMONSTRATION PROGRAM AND THE CONGREGATE	Housing
	SERVICES	PROGRAM	
	1.2 KEY	' Features of Hope IV and CHSP	
	1.3 HO	PE IV AND CHSP GRANTEES	1-7
	1.4 Con	ICEPTUAL DESIGN OF THE HOPE IV AND CHSP EVALUATIONS	1-9
	1.5 ORG	GANIZATION OF THIS REPORT	1-10
2.	HOPE I	V AND CHSP PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION	
	2.1 EFF	ECTS OF HOPE IV AND CHSP ON EXISTING HUD HOUSING ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS	
	2.2 HO	PE IV AND CHSP PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT	
	2.3 Ass	essing Frailty	
	2.3.1	The Professional Assessment Committees (PACs)	
	2.3.2	ADL Assessment Tools Used by the Grantees	
	2.4 SUP	PORTIVE SERVICES PACKAGES AND SERVICE PROVISION ARRANGEMENTS	
	2.5 Ser	VICE COORDINATORS	
	2.5.1	Service Coordinator Qualifications and Working Arrangements	
	2.5.2	The Dimensions of the Service Coordinator Role	
	2.5.3	Participant Views of and Interactions with their Service Coordinators	
	2.5.4	Service Coordinators: A Summary	
2	DEMOC	RAPHIC AND HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS OF THE HOPE IV AND CHSP	
		ANTS	
	31 DEN	10GRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	3-1
	3.1.1	Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Gender	
	3.1.2	Marital Status and Living Arrangements	
	3.1.3	Length of Time in Current Residence	
		ONAL STATUS AND HEALTH	
		ILTY OF HOPE IV AND CHSP PARTICIPANTS	
	4.1.1	Activity of Daily Living Limitations	
	4.1.2	Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Limitations	
	4.1.3	Analysis of HOPE IV and CHSP Eligibility	
		LTH STATUS	
	4.2.1	Health Conditions	
	4.2.2	Frequency of Falls	
	4.2.3	Medical Care Access and Use	
	4.2.4	Mental Health, Quality of Life, and Cognitive Status	
5.	INFORM	IAL ASSISTANCE, SOCIAL SUPPORT AND SERVICE UTILIZATION	
	5.1 Th	E IMPORTANCE OF INFORMAL ASSISTANCE AND SOCIAL SUPPORT	
	5.1. I	Frequency and Nature of In-Person Social Contacts	
	5.1.2	Telephone Contact	
	5.1.3	Informal Contacts: A Summary	
	5.1.4	Social Satisfaction and Loneliness	
	5.2 SER	VICE UTILIZATION	
	5.2.1	Receipt of Services	
	5.2.2	Satisfaction with Services	
	5.2.3	Services: A Summary	5-14

6. HOPE IV AND CHSP BENEFITS AND OUTCOMES	6-1
6.1 OUTCOME MEASURES	
6.2 HOPE IV OUTCOMES	6-1
6.2.1 Reasons for Leaving HOPE IV	
6.2.2 Changes in Quality of Life	
6.3 CHSP OUTCOMES	
6.3.1 CHSP Continuation and Discontinuation	
6.3.2 Program Drop-Outs: Reasons for Leaving CHSP	
6.4 COMPARING HOPE IV AND CHSP OUTCOMES	6-11
6.4.1 Exiting from HOPE IV and CHSP	
6.4.2 Sociability and Social Contacts	6-13
6.4.3 Services	
6.4.4 Service Coordinators	6-15
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS OF THE HOPE IV AND CHSP PROGRAMS	

EXHIBITS

TABLE 1-1	Key Elements of New CHSP and HOPE for Elderly Independence	
	DEMONSTRATION PROGRAM	1-4
TABLE 2-1	PERCENTAGE OF PROJECTS OFFERING SPECIFIC SUPPORTIVE SERVICES	2-8
TABLE 3-1	DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS: AGE, RACE/ETHNICITY, AND GENDER	3-1
TABLE 3-2	DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS: MARITAL STATUS AND LIVING ARRANGEMENTS	3-3
TABLE 3-3	HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS: LENGTH OF TIME IN CURRENT HOME/APARTMENT	3-4
TABLE 4-1	FRAILTY CHARACTERISTICS: ACTIVITY OF DAILY LIVING (ADL)	
	LIMITATION AT BASELINE	4-2
TABLE 4-2	FRAILTY CHARACTERISTICS: COMPARING HOPE IV WITH OTHER	
	LONG-TERM CARE PROGRAMS FOR THE FRAIL ELDERLY	4-4
TABLE 4-3	FRAILTY CHARACTERISTICS: INSTRUMENTAL ACTIVITY OF DAILY LIVING	
	(IADL) LIMITATIONS AT BASELINE	4-4
TABLE 4-4	FRAILTY CHARACTERISTICS: HUD ADL DIFFICULTIES (12 ACTIVITY CATEGORIES)	4-6
TABLE 4-5	HEALTH CHARACTERISTICS: HEALTH CONDITIONS AT BASELINE	4-8
TABLE 4-6	HEALTH CHARACTERISTICS: FREQUENCY OF FALLS AT BASELINE	4-8
TABLE 4-7	HEALTH CHARACTERISTICS: HEALTH CARE UTILIZATION AT BASELINE	4-9
TABLE 4-8	Measures of Life Satisfaction	4-11
TABLE 4-9	Measures of Vitality and Mental Health	4-12
TABLE 4-10	COGNITIVE STATUS	4-13
TABLE 5-1	MONTHLY FREQUENCY OF DIFFERENT TYPES OF IN-PERSON SOCIAL CONTACTS	
	FOR HOPE IV AND COMPARISON GROUP RESPONDENTS AT BASELINE AND FOLLOW-UP	5-3
TABLE 5-2	FREQUENCY OF TELEPHONE CONTACTS	5-7
TABLE 5-3	SUPPORTIVE SERVICES RECEIVED	5-11
TABLE 5-4	BASELINE: AVERAGE MONTHLY FREQUENCY OF RECEIPT AND SATISFACTION	
	SPECIFIC SERVICES	5-13
TABLE 5-5	HOPE IV FOLLOW-UP: AVERAGE MONTHLY FREQUENCY OF RECEIPT,	
	AND SATISFACTION WITH SPECIFIC SERVICES	5-14
TABLE 5-6	SERVICE SEEN AS MOST HELPFUL FOR MAINTAINING INDEPENDENCE FOR	
	HOPE IV PARTICIPANTS AND COMPARISON GROUP	5-15
TABLE 6-1	PROGRAM STATUS AFTER TWO YEARS	6-2
TABLE 6-2	ADL IMPAIRMENT AREAS ASSOCIATED WITH DYING OR MOVING TO	
	HIGHER LEVEL OF CARE	6-7
TABLE 6-3	CHSP AND HOPE IV PROGRAM CONTINUATION	6-12

. .

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report compares the effectiveness of providing assistance under the Congregate Housing Services program (CHSP) and the HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration (HOPE IV) program as requested in the 1990 Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act (Public Law 101-625). HOPE IV and CHSP combined HUD housing assistance with case management and supportive services for low-income elderly persons (62 and older) with limitations in personal care and home management activities, such as bathing, dressing, and housekeeping.

The purpose of HOPE IV and CHSP was to expand existing housing assistance programs to an elderly population often deprived of access to them due to frailty and to help these participants avoid nursing home placement or other restrictive settings when home and community-based options were appropriate. In addition to the housing assistance, HUD paid 40 percent of the supportive services costs, the grantees paid 50 percent, and participants, except for those with very low incomes, paid 10 percent of total program costs.

HOPE IV funding initially went to 16 public housing agencies in 1993 for projects ranging in size from 25 to 150 persons for a five-year demonstration period. The focus of this evaluation was the first round of HOPE IV awards that HUD made in February 1993 to these agencies. The grants collectively totaled \$9.9 million for the supportive services component and an additional \$29.6 million for rental assistance. Services were linked to the rental housing Voucher and provided to elderly participants who lived in housing units throughout the grantee's service area. For CHSP, HUD awarded 39 grants in 1993 to fund services in 45 subsidized housing developments. The number of CHSP residents served in these developments ranged from fewer than 10 to more than 100. CHSP services were subsidized through grants to public housing authority buildings, Section 202 projects, and other developments that served frail elderly and disabled residents.

HOPE IV and CHSP were targeted to similar populations of frail elderly, provided many of the same services, offered service coordination, and shared the goal of helping frail elderly persons live independently as long as possible. The major difference between the two programs was that HOPE IV was tenant-based, whereas CHSP was project-based. That is, HOPE IV combined supportive services with rental assistance (Section 8 Vouchers), and the services were provided in the tenants' homes or other community locations. CHSP services were provided in apartment housing developments designated for residency by frail elderly and persons with disabilities and were available to residents who met the program's eligibility requirements. The services were typically delivered in the resident's apartment or in the public areas, such as a dining room or activity area of the development.

Another important difference between the two programs was that HOPE IV participants could not have been receiving HUD housing assistance when they applied, and grantees had to recruit applicants from outside their current programs. CHSP participants, however, came from within existing HUD-assisted congregated housing, and they had often lived there for many years. As this report shows, these differences had a substantial impact on program design and implementation.

A key feature of HOPE IV and CHSP was the establishment of a Service Coordinator position with responsibilities for the design and implementation of a system of case management, personal care, and home management services for the frail elderly tenants and residents. Of particular importance was the coordination of the traditional Section 8 and building management staff activities with the new case management and services components of HOPE IV and CHSP. In addition, the Service Coordinator was responsible for forging relationships with other agencies and organization in the community, including purchase-of-services arrangements with existing service providers. Supporting the Service Coordinator was a Professional Assessment Committee (PAC) responsible for screening applicants for frailty and ascertaining need for services, in accordance with the HUD HOPE IV and CHSP regulations. The PAC must have included at least one medical professional and others with various health or social services backgrounds.

The following section provides highlights from the HOPE IV and CHSP evaluations and shows the major similarities and differences between the two programs. Throughout this report, various terms are used to describe the housing environments and HUD subsidy programs within which HOPE IV and CHSP operated. These include tenant-based Section 8 and scattered-site rental housing, both of which refer to the HUD Voucher program that pays a portion of the rent and related expenses in private market housing. The terminology also includes congregate housing projects, properties, and developments, all of which refer to HUD-subsidized apartment buildings where CHSP offered case management and supportive services.

Overview of Findings from the Evaluations

Benefits and Outcomes

- For Public Housing Agencies and congregate housing developments, application for and participation in HOPE IV and CHSP had a noticeable impact on the grantees' orientation toward a frail elderly population. For HOPE IV, the internal culture of PHAs and the Section 8 program changed radically from one focusing almost exclusively on housing assistance to acknowledging and accepting responsibility for a range of service needs among frail elderly applicants and tenants in HUD rental assistance programs. Under CHSP, building management was able to broaden its attention beyond the physical structure and accommodate the service needs of the residents in HUD subsidized congregate housing.
- Overall, HOPE IV and CHSP were complementary and helped meet the needs of low-income frail elderly community residents. They served people who lived in different settings — Section 8 subsidized housing units versus apartment developments with a number of other elderly residents. Grantees that operated both programs saw each as being valuable in meeting the needs of elderly community residents who — by choice or for other reasons — lived in different kinds of settings within the community.
- A key component of HOPE IV and CHSP was that each program fostered the development of partnerships with other service delivery agencies in the community that helped meet tenant and resident needs. Such partnerships were essential to effectively use HUD supportive services funding, and this confirmed the importance of linkages between housing and other community agencies when assistance moved beyond the traditional boundaries of subsidized housing.
- HOPE IV and CHSP represented an important opportunity to link housing and service delivery for low-income, frail elderly persons in a far more systematic and coordinated fashion than had existed in the past. The Service Coordinators from both programs reported that HOPE IV and CHSP increased collaboration between housing and service providers to serve the needs of their elderly residents.

- Partner agencies that provided services to program participants included: State Agencies on Aging and programs for persons with disabilities, Area Agencies on Aging, home health agencies, mental health agencies, Visiting Nurse Associations, the United Way, Meals on Wheels programs, adult day care providers, and religious organizations. These agencies and organizations not only delivered services under contract with HOPE IV and CHSP grantees, but also used their own funds to serve program participants. In this way, HOPE IV and CHSP leveraged other community resources to benefit older persons.
- In order to determine what these levels of service might have been without the program, the HOPE IV evaluation included a similarly frail elderly comparison group receiving Section 8 rental assistance but not enrolled HOPE IV. The HOPE IV participant and comparison groups were interviewed during a baseline and follow-up survey two years apart to show changes over time between these two groups. Among persons in these two groups, the evaluation found that HOPE IV participants received a significantly higher level of supportive services than the comparison group and this disparity in access to services increased over time. For example, at follow-up, nearly one-third (32 percent) of the HOPE IV comparison group reported receiving no services at all despite high levels of frailty, versus 7 percent of the participants.
- For HOPE IV, receipt of services was significantly related to a range of positive outcomes. In particular, service recipients scored significantly higher in four major mental health dimensions (anxiety, depression, loss of behavioral/emotional control, and psychological well-being), social functioning (quantity and quality of social activities), vitality (energy level and fatigue), and other measure of social well-being.¹
- However, despite enhanced availability of services, there were no statistically significant differences between the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members in the rates of nursing home placement, mortality, or exiting Section 8 for other reasons. In a similar vein, there was no separate effect of receiving specific individual CHSP services on continued participation in that program. These findings are consistent with the assumptions in the research designs and the results of prior studies that show the impacts of similar programs address quality of life and care, rather than changing such overt outcomes as institutionalization or otherwise having to leave one's home due to frailty.
- For both CHSP and HOPE IV, half the residents studied were still in their respective program 24 months after the baseline survey and about 9 percent had left the program (but remained in their subsidized housing) because they were no longer eligible, were dissatisfied, or obtained services from another source. About 14 percent of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants had died during the two-year period.
- However, more CHSP than HOPE IV participants had moved to a nursing home, group home, or other higher level of care (25 percent versus 9 percent) over the two-year period. While frailty levels were comparable between the two groups of participants, the higher median age for CHSP relative to HOPE IV (82 years versus 74 years) may provide one explanation for this difference.

¹ Ware, J.E., SF-36 Health Survey, Manual and Interpretation Guide. The Health Institute, New England Medical Center, Boston, MA, 1993.

Program Implementation

- It took considerably longer to recruit and place participants into the HOPE IV program than it did for CHSP, largely because of who was eligible to participate in each program. To expand Section 8 participation beyond its current scope, HUD regulations required that HOPE IV applicants had to come from outside existing HUD housing assistance programs. CHSP applicants, by comparison, came from among current residents of HUD-assisted congregate housing.
- Because they were serving an entirely new constituency, virtually all the HOPE IV grantees reported substantial difficulty recruiting and placing eligible applicants in appropriate rental housing. Most of the HOPE IV participants (60 percent) already lived in rental apartments that met HUD Housing Quality Standards, and they did not have to move to quality for participation. The remaining 40 percent, however, had to relocate to a qualifying apartment from either substandard housing or from other ineligible settings. For many HOPE IV participants, therefore, the need was for the basic Section 8 rental assistance, as well as for the case management and in-home services the program provided.
- In addition, effective implementation of HOPE IV often required the PHAs to make substantial changes to their existing Section 8 application and placement policies and procedures. These changes were required to address the realities of a frail elderly population that needed considerable assistance in applying for the program and locating suitable rental housing. Furthermore, as implementation continued, HOPE IV grantees then had to balance these initial activities with the intensive case management and supportive services requirements for those placed in the program.
- By contrast, CHSP Service Coordinators did not experience the same challenges with recruitment and enrollment, in large part because residents were already living in the congregate facilities. Although they employed a variety of outreach methods, such as fliers and brochures, newsletters, CHSP Service Coordinators could rely mostly on "word-of-mouth" and the help of the resident services staff in identifying individuals who might benefit from the Program.
- Largely because of these heavy HOPE IV implementation requirements, recruiting and enrolling participants continued far into the 5-year demonstration period, and the HOPE IV Service Coordinator role developed differently than in the CHSP program. HOPE IV Service Coordinators had to continue to devote significant time and energy to "front end" tasks, whereas Service Coordinators in the CHSP projects were able to focus more exclusively on case management functions after the initial start-up period.
- Concerning consumer satisfaction with program implementation, HOPE IV and CHSP participants were very satisfied with their Service Coordinators. All emphasized the Service Coordinator's help in linking them to, and providing information about, services. HOPE IV participants also gave primacy to their Service Coordinator's help in obtaining housing and rental assistance, whereas CHSP residents tended to highlight the more personal, interactive aspects of the relationship.
- During the initial implementation of the two programs, CHSP participants saw their Service Coordinators much more frequently than did HOPE IV participants on a day-to-day basis, but actually met less often to discuss their service plans with their Service Coordinators. However, the frequency of the HOPE IV participants' in-person contacts with their Service Coordinators declined

considerably between baseline and follow-up as the initial labor-intensive activities gave way to periodic reassessment of needs and monitoring.

Participant Characteristics

- The evaluations found that the vast majority of HOPE IV and CHSP participants were widowed, white females who were living alone, consistent with the profile of frail elderly Americans, overall. Over half of the participants were at least 75 years old; however, CHSP participants were markedly older, with a median age of 82 years, versus 74 years for HOPE IV.
- Moving can be a traumatic experience for a frail elderly population, and changing residence was often a requirement for HOPE IV participation. Nearly half of the HOPE IV participants had moved into their current home within one year of enrollment, either to meet HUD housing quality standards or for other reasons. In contrast, only 12 percent of the CHSP participants had lived in their current apartments for less than one year. This was a function of design differences in the two programs. All HOPE IV participants were new to HUD housing assistance, per the program requirements. In contrast, CHSP participants were drawn from current residents of HUD assisted congregate housing.
- HOPE IV and CHSP participants were considerably more frail than the elderly population as a whole, in terms of activity of daily living (ADL) limitations. For example, among all non-institutionalized elderly age 65 and over, only 11 percent reported a limitation in at least one ADL, ranging from about 9 percent for dressing to approximately 1 percent for feeding oneself. In contrast, nearly three-quarters of HOPE IV participants and nearly 80 percent of CHSP participants reported difficulty performing at least one ADL.
- While HOPE IV and CHSP participants were considerably more frail than the elderly population overall, they were much less frail than persons who receive, or are eligible for, nursing home care. Approximately 92 percent of nursing home residents age 65 and older had at least one ADL dependency, in this case involving the assistance of another person.
- When asking participants about their ADL limitations according to HUD's eligibility criteria, however, about 19 percent of the HOPE IV and 24 percent of the CHSP participants had fewer than three ADL difficulties, contrary to the HOPE IV and CHSP program regulations. As one possible explanation for this disparity, prior research in measuring ADL difficulties shows that frail elderly persons, especially women, self-report fewer difficulties than do professionals when assessing them.
- Consistent with their functional limitation status, HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported having many chronic health conditions. About one-half of HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported having high blood pressure, and 39 and 45 percent of these participants, respectively, indicated having a heart condition. Fourteen and 20 percent of HOPE IV and CHSP participants, respectively, reported having diabetes, arteriosclerosis, or having had a stroke.
- Even with case management and personal assistance, HOPE IV and CHSP participants spent considerable time alone in their homes. For a frail elderly population, the risk of falls is always present and a potential source of injury. Twenty-two percent of persons in HOPE IV and 12 percent of CHSP participants said they sought medical care as a result of falling during the past year; and 9

percent and 7 percent, respectively, were hospitalized for more than 1 day due to a fall during that period.

- Despite their high level of frailty and prevalence of chronic health conditions, the majority of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants had not been confined to bed or a chair at all during the month prior to the baseline interview and had not stayed in a hospital overnight at all during the prior 12 months. However, more than a third of both groups of participants had stayed overnight as a hospital in-patient over the prior year, which is twice the rate for the elderly household population as a whole.
- In spite of their poor health and frailty, most of the HOPE IV participants reported the quality of their lives to be relatively high, although this was not the case for all. Over one-third of the HOPE IV participants responded at baseline that they were, in general, very satisfied with the way their life is going, and 45 percent indicated they were somewhat satisfied with life. Almost one-fifth, however, said they were not satisfied with the quality of their lives according to these criteria.

Informal Assistance, Social Support, and Service Utilization

- Informal assistance, social support, and social interaction are important aspects of an older person's quality of life that also tend to correlate with measures of mental health and life satisfaction. In addition, the quality and level of social support received, independent of other factors, can affect a frail elderly person's risk of institutionalization. Many HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported low levels of loneliness, and almost all had at least one confidante. However, 20 percent of HOPE IV participants and 21 percent of CHSP participants said they felt lonely quite often, and 41 percent and 43 percent, respectively, said they felt this way sometimes.
- Most HOPE IV participants showed a bimodal pattern of in-person or telephone contact with others: either less than once a month or several times a week or more. For example, 47 percent of HOPE IV participants saw a child less than once a month. At the other end of the spectrum, 26 percent of HOPE IV participants saw a child more than three times a week and 12 percent saw a child every day.
- However, the pattern of contact with family and friends for CHSP participants was not similarly bimodal; the distribution of in-person and telephone contact with family members and others is much more even across the different categories. For example, only about half as many (25 percent) of CHSP participants as HOPE IV participants reported seeing a family member (a child or any other family member) only once a month or less. At the same time, considerably fewer CHSP participants (6 percent) reported daily contact with family members.
- A higher percentage of CHSP participants than HOPE IV participants had received comparable formal services prior to entering their respective Programs. These findings are not surprising given that CHSP participants were already living in congregate housing prior to entering the CHSP, which gave them some access to services and a stable environment where service linkages may have had a chance to develop. By contrast, many HOPE IV participants had to relocate to enter HOPE IV and were selected into the Program partly on the basis of their demonstrated need for supportive services and distance from family members who might have been able to assist them.

- Under HOPE IV and CHSP, the core services received by participants were much the same across these two programs, with about four-fifths of both groups reporting they got housekeeping, slightly under one-half indicating receipt of transportation services, and just under one third saying they got personal care services.
- Satisfaction is generally high with both HOPE IV and CHSP; almost all the participants in both programs said they were very satisfied or at least somewhat satisfied with the program. In addition, the vast majority of HOPE IV and CHSP participants were happy with the amounts and types of services they were receiving. For example, 82 percent of HOPE IV participants said they did not need any more of their current services. Of those indicating they would have liked more of their current services, the greatest number of participants expressed a desire for more housekeeping. Data for CHSP participants show a broadly similar pattern of overall satisfaction with services received. When asked about the specific services they received from both formal and informal sources the vast majority of CHSP participants (75 percent or more) indicated that these services adequately met their needs.
- One important conclusion from the evaluations is that the HOPE IV and CHSP program models are complementary, and each responds to an important but distinct need. Concerning HOPE IV, many frail elderly live in scattered-site rental housing that meets HUD housing quality standards, and a tenant-based model responds to this reality by allowing persons to remain in their current homes and receive the rental assistance, case management, and services they need. Equally important, the CHSP model responds to the needs of the substantial numbers of frail elderly who live in HUD subsidized congregate housing, and a project-based approach addresses the requirements of this separate population who are aging in place and increasingly require a services component to remain there.
- Reinforcing this need for a dual perspective, the HOPE IV and CHSP models correspond to two current and complementary approaches that professionals in the field of aging are using to develop policies, provide financial support, and operate long-term care programs for a frail elderly constituency. The first of these approaches, similar to HOPE IV, seeks to provide case management, home care, and other assistance to frail older persons where they currently live throughout a community, as an alternative to institutionalization or other restrictive settings. An example of this is the Medicaid waiver program, often supplemented with separate state funding, that supports the delivery of home-care in lieu of nursing home placement. The second approach for serving the long-term care needs of a frail elderly population in a community setting is Assisted Living. This approach supports a congregate model for housing and services but avoids the restrictive environment often associated with a nursing home or related care facility.

.

·

,

1. INTRODUCTION

With a substantial increase in the number of elderly persons in the United States, especially in advanced age groups associated with frailty, communities across the country have experienced a rise in demand for a range of services to support an aging population. While most elderly individuals continue to live independently in their own homes, the rising number of persons throughout the United States who are reaching advanced age heightens the need for assistance with many personal care and home management activities, such as bathing, dressing, and meals preparation. For the Department of Housing and Urban Development, (HUD) and its local agents — Public Housing Agencies (PHAs) and housing development sponsors and managers — responding to this neighborhood demand required adapting the various housing assistance programs to address the needs of frail elderly tenants and residents by providing a range of services that went well beyond offering affordable housing.

This report presents the evaluation results from two HUD programs that combined housing assistance with case management and a range of supportive services for a frail, low-income elderly population. The purpose of evaluating these programs was to inform and support the consideration of legislation, policies, and programs that address the housing and services needs of frail elderly individuals residing in or eligible for HUD-assisted housing.

1.1 The HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration Program and the Congregate Housing Services Program

The HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration program (HOPE IV) was designed to explore how HUD could support the needs of a frail, low-income elderly population by combining Section 8 rental Vouchers with case management and supportive services to enhance the quality of life and avoid unnecessary or premature institutionalization. To be eligible for HOPE IV, a person must have been at least 62 years of age, had an income that generally did not exceed 50 percent of the area's median,² resided in or have been willing to move to a private market rental dwelling meeting HUD's Section 8 Housing Quality Standards, not have been a current participant in Section 8 or other housing assistance programs, and needed assistance in personal care and home management activities.

The Congregate Housing Services Program (CHSP) provided a combination of housing and supportive services to low-income, frail elderly, ages 62 and over, and non-elderly disabled residents of

² The median income is adjusted according to family size.

federally subsidized housing. CHSP was originally authorized under Title IV of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1978 (42 USC 5301). The new CHSP, the subject of this report, was authorized under the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990, amended by the Housing and Community Development Act of 1992. Under this program, HUD and the Rural Housing Service (RHS)³ of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) made grants to local housing sponsors to help pay for supportive services for residents who are frail elderly or persons with disabilities. The main purposes of CHSP were to promote and encourage maximum resident independence within their home environment and to improve the ability of management to assess the service needs of eligible residents and provide or ensure the delivery of needed services.

Both HOPE IV and CHSP provided a combination of housing and supportive services. A key difference, however, was that CHSP used a project-based model, providing services to eligible residents of public housing and privately-owned subsidized housing (apartment housing developments) designated for residency by frail elderly and persons with disabilities. This meant that participants lived in the same apartment development (congregate housing) and services were delivered on-site, either in the resident's apartment or in the common areas of the apartment development. By contrast, the HOPE IV model was tenant-based: it combined Section 8 rental assistance with supportive services, with services provided at scattered sites — usually the resident's home — anywhere in the jurisdiction served by the HOPE IV grantee.

For the purposes of eligibility determination, HUD required that HOPE IV and CHSP participants need assistance in three or more activities of daily living (ADLs). HUD defined these ADL limitations as follows:

- Eating (may need assistance with cooking, preparing or serving food, but must be able to feed self);
- Bathing (may need assistance in getting in and out of shower or tub, but must be able to wash self);
- Grooming (may need assistance in washing hair but must be able to take care of personal appearance);
- Dressing (must be able to dress self, but may need occasional assistance); and
- Home management activities (may need assistance in doing housework, grocery shopping, laundry, or getting to and from one location to another, but must be mobile, alone or with the aid of assistive devices such as a wheelchair).

³ Formerly Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) of U.S. Department of Agriculture.

HUD intended these criteria to identify persons who could live independently in scattered-site and congregate rental housing but needed help to maintain independence.

The HUD ADL definition differs from what is most commonly used in the field of geriatric functional assessment and is actually a combination of two measures used in both research and practice: Activity of Daily Living Limitations and Instrumental Activity of Daily Living limitations. ADL measures were developed by Sidney Katz and his colleagues, and they consist of bathing, dressing, transferring between bed and chair, using the toilet, continence, and eating.⁴ These activities often fall under the rubric of personal care. Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADLs) are based on definitions developed by M. Powell Lawton and Elaine Brody.⁵ IADLs cover more complex activities, including handling personal finances, meal preparation, shopping, traveling about the community, doing housework, using the telephone, and taking medication. Studies of the elderly often refer to these IADLs as home management activities.

A Professional Assessment Committee (PAC), in conjunction with a Service Coordinator, determined eligibility, developed a case plan for services, and regularly monitored each participant's condition and services. HUD paid 40 percent of the program costs; the grantee paid 50 percent; and participant fees comprised at least 10 percent of total program costs. Individually, participants, however, could not be charged more than 20 percent of their income as part of the fee provision.

For HOPE IV, this report is base on the first round of funding during which HUD awarded grants to 16 agencies for projects ranging in size from 25 to 150 persons for a five-year demonstration period. Collectively, these first-round grants totaled about \$10 million for the supportive services component and approximately \$30 million for rental assistance. For CHSP, HUD awarded 39 grants to fund CHSP in 45 developments, and the number of residents participating ranged from less than 10 to 110.

1.2 Key Features of Hope IV and CHSP

The key elements of CHSP and HOPE IV are summarized in Table 1.1 and are discussed in more detail in the following text.

⁴ Katz, S., and C.A. Apkom, A measure of primary sociobiological functions. International Journal of Health Services 6:493x508, 1976.

⁵ Lawton, M.P., and E.M. Brody, Assessment of older people: Self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. Gerontologist 9:179-186, 1969.

HOPE IV Program Elements	New CHSP Program Elements
Combines housing with supportive services:	Combines housing with supportive services:
- Tenant-based model	- Project-based model
- Service coordinator (SC)	- Service coordinator (SC)
- Professional Assessment Committee (PAC)	- Professional Assessment Committee (PAC)
 Non-medical supportive services 	- Non-medical supportive services
Services are targeted:	Services are targeted:
- Low income frail elderly	- low-income frail elderly and persons with
	disabilities
Services are tailored to individual needs:	Services are tailored to individual needs:
 Individualized care plan 	 Individualized care plan
- Initial assessment and periodic review by SC	- Initial assessment and periodic review by SC
and PAC	and PAC
HUD funds are used to leverage other funding	HUD funds are used to leverage other funding
 Grantee match required 	- Grantee match required
- Tenant fees	- Resident fees
Program is diverse, flexible	Program is diverse, flexible
- Has common core elements	- Has common core elements
 Implemented differently in different settings 	- Implemented differently in different settings

Table 1.1. Key Elements of the HOPE for Elderly and New CHSP Independence Program

Combined housing subsidy with supportive services. A number of residents in federally subsidized housing are frail older persons in need of supportive services. For example, the HOPE IV evaluation found that among existing Section 8 elderly tenants — the comparison group not enrolled in the demonstration program — one in five, or 20 percent, had levels of frailty similar to the participants.

In many cases, older residents have "aged in place," experiencing greater frailty and needs for assistance as they age. HUD recognized that by combining supportive services with housing, current and future residents and tenants may be helped to continue living as independently as possible for as long as possible. Additionally, having a program of supportive services available for these populations of tenants and residents helped HUD carry out its work and cope with the challenges posed by a growing population of persons who need assistance to continue living in their current housing.

Service Coordinator. The Service Coordinator was a key element of both HOPE IV and CHSP. The responsibilities of the Service Coordinator included intake and referral services, formal case management, establishing linkages to service providers in the community, referring and linking individual participating residents to providers, educating tenants and residents on service availability and related topics, monitoring provision of services, helping participants build informal support networks, and educating other staff on aging-in-place and service coordination. The Service Coordinator worked with the Professional Assessment Committee (PAC), which had primary responsibility for determining program eligibility. For HOPE IV, the PAC assessed frailty and service needs for the new applicants for this program. For CHSP, the PAC determined the eligibility of current congregate housing residents for participation. For both programs, each PAC was responsible for conducting regular reassessments and developing case plans for participants. Additionally, the Service Coordinator worked with local service providers in developing and implementing service plans and kept the PAC informed of participant progress.

Types of Services provided. Under HOPE IV and CHSP, a variety of services were provided to participants. These services included meals; housekeeping; personal assistance (grooming, dressing, other activities to maintain personal appearance and hygiene); transportation; nonmedical supervision, wellness programs, preventive health screening; personal emergency response systems; and other supportive services approved by HUD. For HOPE IV, the meal service was primarily home-delivered, given the scattered-site nature of the program. For CHSP, each participating project was required to provide at least one meal per day in a congregate setting for some or all participants. Medical treatment was specifically excluded, although health education, wellness programs, preventive health services, and monitoring of medication consistent with state law, were allowed. Grantees could provide these services directly or contract for them through other agencies or providers.

Services were targeted. Both CHSP and HOPE IV served low-income elderly residents (age 62 or older) who needed assistance with three or more activities of daily living (ADLs) as defined above. To be eligible, the persons must have been able to perform each of the activities at a specified minimal level, either by themselves, or with assistance from a spouse, relative, or other persons.

These eligibility requirements reflect HUD's commitment to targeting services to frail elderly persons who were at risk of needing to move to a higher level of care (such as an assisted living facility or nursing home), but, at the same time, not so frail that they need nursing home levels of care. Also, consistent with the targeting of services to those with an appropriate level of need, the PAC and Service Coordinator had the responsibility to move participants out of HOPE IV or CHSP if they improved enough to be able to function without supportive services or required a higher level of care than could be provided under HOPE IV or CHSP.

CHSP, but not HOPE IV, also provides services to persons with chronic and short-term disabilities, which included adults with physical, mental, emotional, or developmental impairments. However, this report focuses on the frail elderly, the group common to both HOPE IV and CHSP. HOPE IV and CHSP emphasized both tailoring services to individual participants' needs and the active involvement of the participant in developing the plan. The Service Coordinator did intake screening and preliminary assessment of frailty or disability for potential program participants, and referred individuals who appeared eligible to the PAC. The PAC reviewed the case and, with the Service Coordinator, potential participant, and family member(s), developed an individual case plan for the participant. The participant could refuse services or request other services. Other services were covered by HOPE IV or CHSP if the PAC determined them to be needs-based and appropriate under the HOPE IV or CHSP. If not, they could be paid for separately by the participant. Once the case plan was finalized, the Service Coordinator was responsible for working with community agencies, the grantee, and third party service providers to ensure that the services were provided on a regular, ongoing, and satisfactory basis in accordance with the case plan approved by the PAC and the participant. The Service Coordinator and PAC were required to review each participant's care plan when needs changed or at least annually.

HUD funds were used to leverage other funding. The matching funds provisions of HOPE IV and CHSP implemented HUD's expectation that the grantees, HUD, and participants all would have responsibility for contributing to the cost of providing needed services. Under HOPE IV and CHSP, HUD committed its share of costs for the five-year grant period. This commitment provided a sustained period of support and a basis for obtaining commitments of support from other sources.

Allowable matching funds came from a variety of sources. For example, cash matching funds included Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) or Community Services Block Grant funds, funding from Older Americans Act (OAA) programs, and available payments authorized for specific individuals under Medicaid. Individuals could pay fees using cash contributions, including contributions or donations to other eligible programs acceptable as matching funds. Programs had a degree of

flexibility in the way they charged fees for different combinations of HOPE IV and CHSP services, within the ten percent limit specified in the statutes for the two programs.

Program diversity. While each program was operated separately by distinct grantees, HOPE IV and CHSP had a well-defined core of support, operations, and services. Fundamental program elements were common across all sites: the broad requirements for the sharing of financial support for the program; the role of the Service Coordinator and PAC; and the eligibility requirements in terms of low-income, frailty, and need for services. At the same time, HOPE IV and CHSP allowed substantial flexibility, at the level of the individual participant, and for the grantee. Thus, for example, services could have been provided by staff hired for the program or contracted out to other providers in the community. The Service Coordinator could be either hired by the program or contracted (or donated as part of the match), and could work full- or part-time, depending on the program size and participant needs. Funds could be used for a variety of allowable costs, including staff salaries or service contracts, purchase of equipment and supplies needed to provide services approved under the grant, operational costs for transportation services, and a proportional share of administrative expenses.

All these features of the HOPE IV and new CHSP programs contributed to their flexibility and allowed sites with different resources and needs to implement the program in ways that met those needs and contributed to overall program goals of providing primary services that helped sustain the independence of frail elderly receiving HUD-assisted housing.

1.3 HOPE IV and CHSP Grantees

The HOPE IV and CHSP grantee communities presented a rich range of environments for operation of these two programs. They were located in several geographic regions and distributed across urban, suburban, and rural areas. Grantee communities exhibited some racial, ethnic and cultural diversity, and also presented some distinctive housing characteristics and situations.

The 16 first-round HOPE IV grantees represented a broad spectrum of PHAs in terms of size, from small (about 100 units of assisted housing) to very large (about 10,000 units). Each of the 16 HOPE IV grantees administered a Section 8 Certificate and Voucher rental assistance program. The size of the grantees' Section 8 programs ranged from about 100 to about 1,000 Certificates and Vouchers. Most of the grantees also operated a conventional Public Housing program. Altogether, the grantees managed or assisted about 40,000 units of low- and moderate-income housing, which includes over 12,000 public housing units, over 20,000 Section 8 rental assistance Certificates and Vouchers, and the

balance among other housing assistance programs. About one-third of the grantees' assisted housing units served elderly persons. Five grantees operated or assisted nearly 3,000 units of project-based, congregate or other supportive housing for the elderly.

The 16 HOPE IV grantees represented a range of levels of government and types of legal entities. Two grantees were State-level agencies, three represented county jurisdictions, and 11 served municipalities. One PHA had jurisdiction over the Section 8 program in an area that includes both a city and the surrounding county, but a separate city housing authority had responsibility for administering their public housing program.

CHSP projects were implemented in many types of federally subsidized housing, located in communities of different sizes around the country. Of the 32 CHSP projects active in FY 1995, the largest proportion were in Section 202 housing (11, or 34 percent) or Public Housing Authorities (10, or 31 percent).6 Other CHSP projects were implemented in such settings as Rural Housing Service, Section 236 and Section 8 projects.

In the fall of 1994, there were 34 CHSP projects active, serving 690 residents; by fall 1996, there were 36 projects, serving a total of 941 residents. In Fall 1996, the number of residents served ranged from fewer than 10 at the smallest sites, up to more than 140 at the largest site, and the median was 24.

For HOPE IV, the 16 first-round grantee communities represented a wide variety of geographic regions. Three grantee PHAs were located in Western states (California, Colorado, and Washington), five in the Southwest (two each in Arizona and Oklahoma, and one in Texas), two in the Midwest (Iowa and Ohio), one in the South (Kentucky), and five in the East and Northeast (Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania).

There was somewhat less diversity in the degree of urbanization of the areas served by the HOPE IV grantees. More grantees reported serving suburban, rural, or small town communities than urban cities or counties. Five of the 16 grantees served non-metropolitan areas: three of them served a predominantly rural or remote community, and two served small cities but recruited HOPE IV participants from surrounding jurisdictions that included rural or remote areas. There were two suburban

 $^{^{6}}$ Section 202 is a HUD program that provides mortgage insurance for apartment buildings designed for elderly residents who are income-qualified. The Section 236 and 221(d)(3) programs subsidized the interest rates developers had to pay on HUD-insured loans. These two programs phased out in the 1980s and were replaced by the Section 8 program, which subsidizes the renter's payment to the landlord.

sites and three predominantly urban sites. Four grantees served a mixed urban-rural or suburban-rural area. Likewise, the two State-level grantees served both urban and rural communities.

CHSP developments were located in cities ranging from fewer than 4,000 to more than 600,000 in population. The median size of the host cities is about 60,000, and 35 percent of the developments are in cities or towns with populations less than 25,000. Only four of the projects were in nonmetropolitan areas. Most of the cities or towns were part of larger metropolitan areas; over half of the active projects (18) were in metropolitan areas with populations of 1 million or more.

Geographically, the CHSP developments were concentrated in the Midwest (12 developments) and the Northeast (11 developments). Most of the Midwestern and Western developments were located in large Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs); a relatively large proportion of projects in the Northeast were located in moderate size MSAs; those in the South were primarily located in moderate size MSAs or non-MSA areas.

1.4 Conceptual Design of the HOPE IV and CHSP Evaluations

The U.S. Congress mandated an evaluation of HOPE IV and the new CHSP in Section 802(1) of the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990. The overall objectives of the two evaluations are:

- To provide a comprehensive description of HOPE IV and the new CHSP;
- To assess the effectiveness of the two programs in maintaining the independence of frail elderly by providing a range of supportive services; and
- To compare HOPE IV with the new CHSP.

The conceptual model for the HOPE IV and CHSP evaluations tested the assumption that the ability of frail elderly people to live independently can be enhanced with certain basic supportive services, with the stewardship of a case manager. These services can be and often are, delivered informally by family, friends, and neighbors; but formal delivery of services by community-based agencies may be needed. By helping to fund a variety of community-based support services, HOPE IV and CHSP aimed to reduce inappropriate or premature institutionalization and otherwise increase the quality of life of program participants.

According to this conceptual framework, outcomes of the two programs were likely to be influenced by both the content and the volume of services delivered to participants. These, in turn, depended on the efficiency and effectiveness of program operations. Characteristics of the participants (such as age, physical frailty, mental health, gender, education, and the availability of other formal support services outside the program) could influence outcomes as well. Finally, the degree to which program participants had access to informal support also was a consideration.

In order to determine what these levels of service might have been without the program, the HOPE IV evaluation included a similarly frail elderly comparison group receiving Section 8 rental assistance but not enrolled HOPE IV. The HOPE IV participant and comparison groups were interviewed during a baseline and follow-up survey two years apart to show changes over time between these two groups.

In particular, HOPE IV embraced what was for many grantee PHAs an entirely new Section 8 tenant population. To even begin to meet the special challenges of serving a frail elderly constituency, most HOPE IV PHA grantees had to adapt their normal Section 8 operating procedures and initiate an array of new services and linkages with other agencies in the community. Documenting and assessing the impact of these systemic changes comprised a major component of the evaluation. Without these changes, successful implementation and operation of HOPE IV could not have occurred. For congregate housing developments, CHSP brought a formal case management and supportive services delivery capability within the purview of the local sponsor and building management. It acknowledged the need for a services component as elderly residents in these developments grew older and required more than housing assistance to continue living there. These evaluations based their findings using data collected from a variety of sources: frail elderly program participants, Service Coordinators, representatives of PACs, grantee staff, grant applications, program reports, HUD officials, and secondary data sources.

1.5 Organization of this report

This report consists of an Executive Summary and eight chapters. Following this introduction, Chapter 2 describes the programs' design, implementation, and operation and shows how the programs fit into the existing administrative structure of the grantee agency and the types of problems and changes that occurred as a result. It compares and contrasts the procedures for locating eligible participants for the two programs, including changes to existing practices, problems in recruiting participants, and how the grantees overcame these problems. It also describes how the grantees interpreted the regulations on frailty and other eligibility requirements, the specific instruments and procedures they used to assess frailty and need for services, the role of the Professional Assessment Committee and the Service Coordinators, and the degree of reliance on other community agencies and organizations to perform assessments, including similarities and differences among the two programs and across the grantees.

Chapter 3 presents the demographic and housing characteristics of the CHSP and HOPE IV participants. It compares and contrasts the demographic profile of the two groups, including age cohort, race/ethnicity, marital status, and living arrangements. It also describes, compares, and contrasts the length of time the program participants lived in their current residences.

Chapter 4 presents the functional status and health of HOPE IV and CHSP participants, comparing and contrasting the disability profile of participants in the two programs. It also presents the physical and mental health status and health care utilization patterns of the participants in the two programs and identifies major similarities and differences.

Chapter 5 covers the informal assistance, social support, and service utilization of HOPE IV and CHSP participants as well as the HOPE IV companion group members, showing the important domain of social functioning. It discusses the nature and frequency of in-person and telephone contact with family and friends, including the types of informal assistance participants receive. It also includes the formal services participants received through the two programs, including similarities, differences, and satisfaction patterns across the two programs.

Chapter 6 presents CHSP and HOPE IV benefits and outcomes, comparing and contrasting the impact of the two programs in several domains of well being. It also compares and contrasts exit patterns for the two programs, including nursing home placement, mortality, and who remained in their respective programs.

Chapter 7 presents the findings, conclusions, and policy implications, suggesting how the results of the two programs might influence public policy and legislation on the provision of housing and supportive services to a growing segment of the U.S. population of interest to HUD, other federal agencies, and the Congress.

、

2. HOPE IV AND CHSP PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION

This chapter describes the design, implementation, and operation of the HOPE IV and CHSP Programs. It examines commonalties and between and within the two programs in how participants were identified, recruited, screened and assessed, how long this took, and what difficulties the grantees faced and how they overcame them. The chapter also explores the functions of the Professional Assessment Committees (PACs) and Service Coordinators, as well as the methods for delivering services. We also briefly consider the grantee's sources of funds for operating the HOPE IV and CHSP programs, including HUD and other sources, and how the funds are allocated among different uses, including the various categories of services. In addition, this chapter includes an analysis of participant satisfaction with the implementation of the HOPE IV and CHSP programs, including participant recruitment and assessment procedures.

2.1 Effects of HOPE IV and CHSP on Existing HUD Housing Assistance Programs

Application for and participation in HOPE IV and CHSP had a noticeable impact on the grantees' orientation toward the frail elderly population. For HOPE IV, the internal culture of PHAs and the Section 8 program changed radically from one focusing almost exclusively on housing assistance to acknowledging and accepting responsibility for a broad spectrum of needs among elderly tenants in HUD rental assistance programs. For CHSP, building management was able to broaden its attention beyond the physical structure and accommodate the service needs of the elderly residents in HUD subsidized congregate housing.

For all HOPE IV grantees, at the very least, the program represented a new, unique opportunity to complement Section 8 housing with delivery of supportive services for the frail elderly. A related theme has to do with how participation in HOPE IV affected various aspects of regular Section 8 Program operations at the grantee sites. Virtually all grantees recognized that the Section 8 program in their PHA changed perceptibly as a result of their involvement in HOPE IV. Eight of the 16 grantees went so far as to characterize these changes as "dramatic," "major," or even "revolutionary." Grantees said that prior to HOPE IV the Section 8 programs in the grantee sites had, either consciously or inadvertently, discounted the frail elderly as a service population. In a number of places, this had taken the form of steering elderly away from Section 8 and toward other types of housing such as elderly congregate housing or public housing projects.

Most HOPE IV grantees indicated that the Program was, effectively, the only real opportunity for the frail elderly in their community to both benefit from Section 8 and receive supportive services. The consensus seemed to be that "Most elderly Section 8 Voucher holders are forced to leave the program when they become too frail. Section 8 has just not adapted to their needs."

For CHSP, grantees and service coordinators mentioned several effects on the development and community, including reduced turnover, better maintenance of apartments, and increased capacity to serve resident needs. One of the goals of CHSP was to improve housing management's ability to assess residents and expand the capacity to develop care plans, arrange or provide services, and monitor those services. Comments by Service Coordinators and grantees suggest that CHSP did this.

HOPE IV, from the perspective of community service providers, represented the first chance to link housing and service delivery for the low-income, frail elderly population in a far more systematic and coordinated fashion. Similarly, the CHSP grantees and Service Coordinators said that having CHSP had increased collaboration between housing and service providers to serve the needs of their elderly residents.

2.2 HOPE IV and CHSP Participant Recruitment

On the whole, it took considerably longer to recruit and place participants into the HOPE IV program than it did for CHSP, largely because of who was eligible to participate in each. For HOPE IV, applicants had to come from outside existing HUD housing assistance program. CHSP applicants, by comparison, came from among current residents of HUD-assisted congregate housing. Many HOPE IV grantees had to await development of an entirely new infrastructure within the PHA, and linkages with other service providers, before beginning recruitment. As a result, by the end of 1993, over one year after receiving their awards, only half of the 16 HOPE IV grantees had begun active participant recruitment. A year later in December 1994, only three grantees were at or near full enrollment, and these three agencies had been actively engaged in recruitment for an average of 14-15 months. By this time, the 16 HOPE IV grantees had recruited only about 40 percent of the number of participants specified in the awards. By August 1995, upon completion of the baseline participant and comparison group survey, only about 550 of the 1,260 authorized HOPE IV rental units were filled. By the close of calendar year 1995, Service Coordinators reported a total of 586 participants, or less than half the authorized number. Full implementation of the program did not occur until several years after the awards, given the difficulties of HOPE IV implementation.

For a combination of reasons, including (1) the need to develop new Section 8 recruitment strategies and procedures tailored to HOPE IV, (2) the unexpectedly high percentage of participants having to move to qualify for the program (42 percent), and (3) responding to the very intense physical, emotional and financial needs of the frail elderly while recruiting new participants, HOPE IV implementation was a protracted process.

For CHSP, recruitment was much less onerous than for HOPE IV because all potential applicants were already known to the grantees and living in the grantees' congregate housing developments. In February 1993, HUD and FmHA⁷ provided new grant funding to 39 grantees for projects in 45 housing developments. As of December 1994, about one year after receiving their HUD awards, 21 of the 39 grantee organizations were providing new CHSP services in 34 of the 45 developments. Although some of the projects were able to begin implementation quickly, others required time to hire staff, assess residents, and begin providing services to eligible residents. During the first year of funding, the median period grantees had been providing services to eligible residents was 8.5 months; more than one-fourth had provided services for the full year, whereas about 10 percent has only provided services for about one month of the reporting year.

Only six of the 21 CHSP grantees interviewed reported that they had experienced start-up problems or delays. Reasons cited included getting the partner agencies and match firmly in place, finding residents who met the frailty requirements for eligibility, and developing acceptance of the new program among residents.

Recruitment Challenges

Under HOPE IV, the PHAs had to drastically adapt their usual Section 8 recruitment methods to fill the participant slots. Many of the grantees indicated that, because of the popularity of the Section 8 Vouchers and Certificates among the low-income population and the low-turnover rate, the PHA's Section 8 waiting lists had been closed for two or three years prior to the inception of the HOPE IV program. In the past, recruitment for Section 8 had consisted simply of opening the waiting list for very brief periods once every several years. Newspaper notices and other announcements were more than adequate to add new names to the Section 8 waiting lists to fill anticipated vacancies. However, because those responding to the waiting list notices tended to be applicants who were not isolated elderly

⁷ Now Rural Highway Service in the Department of Agriculture

or limited in their activity, very few grantees were able to fill many of the HOPE IV units through these usual methods.

With the new HOPE IV program, the PHAs had to adopt an entirely different approach, employing some combination of the following recruitment methods:

- Development and distribution of HOPE IV promotional material;
- Announcements in newspapers, agency newsletters, and radio and television broadcasts;
- Referrals from the Area Agencies on Aging and others serving frail elderly;
- Referrals from physicians, hospitals, churches, nursing homes, apartment landlords, family and friends of the frail elderly; and
- Outreach efforts, including in-person presentations by PHA staff at senior centers and other agencies serving the elderly.

For CHSP, like HOPE IV, the process of recruiting potential participants, screening and assessing them, and developing the case plan was the first stage in the tailoring of CHSP services to participants' needs. Of the 26 Service Coordinators interviewed in Fall 1994, 20 reported they had undertaken publicity and outreach activities. Specific outreach activities they used included: announcements and/or articles in development or community newsletters; fliers or brochures distributed to residents; informational meetings; word of mouth (for instance, through staff or the residents' council), and individual meetings with residents or family members (including going door to door to talk with residents). Outreach included identifying people who might benefit but did not respond to publicity, and meetings with them, and their families if available, to encourage participation.

Most Effective Promotional Activities

For HOPE IV, just under half of the respondents first found out about the program either from their local Area Agency on Aging or the housing authority. Another 17 percent first heard about HOPE IV from relatives, especially their children. Friends and neighbors accounted for another 10 percent of respondents' sources, followed by a range of individuals, including landlords, service workers, doctors, and hospital discharge planners. Interestingly, only about five percent of respondents first heard about the Program from impersonal sources, such as ads, radio announcements, or brochures. This confirms the idea that some form of "word-of-mouth" was the key to the recruitment process. Among CHSP residents, sixty-nine percent learned about the program from staff of CHSP, the building, or housing authority. Although many sites used written materials, such as newspaper articles or brochures, to publicize the program, only three percent of participants remembered written materials as the source from which they first learned about CHSP. Others learned about CHSP from staff of the local Area Agency on Aging or other community service agency (16 percent) or from informal sources, such as a friend or relative (8 percent).

In an important sense, then, the HOPE IV and CHSP began with personal outreach by program or building staff, who made special efforts to identify and involve persons who might not know about the program or might need extra assistance to enter it. For HOPE IV, the locus of these outreach efforts was the larger community and the existing network of agencies serving potentially eligible frail elderly persons. For CHSP, these outreach efforts were confined, by HUD regulations, to the grantees' existing congregate housing developments.

Participant Satisfaction with Program Entry

HOPE IV and CHSP participants, on the whole, found the process of entering the program fairly easy. Eighty-two percent of HOPE IV participants agreed that it was easy to provide the necessary financial information for entering the Program, 84 percent indicated that the program and its requirements were clearly explained to them, and 78 percent of the respondents reported having actively participated in deciding which services they would receive. ADL assessment was the one area for which there was a slightly lower level of satisfaction among HOPE IV participants: 67 percent disagreed, and 21 percent agreed, with the statement that the process used to determine the need for assistance was complicated. The participants' perception that entering the HOPE IV program was a relatively easy process should be seen in relation to the enormous efforts grantee PHAs and Service Coordinators expended in recruiting and assessing applicants.

CHSP's participants were asked about their experience in the application and service decision process. Their reports indicate the process was generally carried out with active resident involvement: 87 percent said CHSP was explained clearly to them; 82 percent said the process of determining their need for assistance was not complicated or was not required; and 71 percent said they participated actively in deciding on the services they would receive from CHSP.

2.3 Assessing Frailty

2.3.1 The Professional Assessment Committees (PACs)

Professional Assessment Committees (PACs) were charged with assessing the frailty of prospective HOPE IV and CHSP program participants. According to program regulations, PACs could be comprised of health and social services professionals brought together on a voluntary basis by grantees specifically for the HOPE IV or CHSP programs, or the grantees could use existing assessment teams from other service agencies in the community. In either case, HUD regulations required that PACs be made up of three to seven members with at least one medical professional.

HOPE IV grantees reported that the full PACs did not actually conduct the participant assessments. In most cases, either the Service Coordinator alone or a small team consisting of the Service Coordinator and a nurse or geriatric social worker performed the assessments, made an initial eligibility determination, and then presented the results along with a service plan to the full committee for review. Like HOPE IV, the CHSP Service Coordinator served as staff to the PAC and implemented the care plan developed by the PAC and agreed to by the participant.

For HOPE IV, decisions on the size and composition of the PAC were left to the local grantee, as long as the PAC included the Service Coordinator and at least one medical professional. The size of the HOPE IV PACs ranged from three to 13, with an average of 6.6 and a median of six. Concerning the medical professionals, four of the PACs had a physician, 14 included at least one nurse, and 10 included other health care professionals. All of the PACs had at least one social worker, and 14 had at least one other social services professional, such as staff from the Area Agency on Aging.

The survey of PAC members conducted by HOPE IV asked the respondents to rate how large a role the PACs played in each of several key HOPE IV program activities. Ten said the PAC had a large role in assessment of participant eligibility, eight said it had a large role in developing or reviewing the care plans, and seven said it had a large role in frailty assessments and determination of services provided.
2.3.2 ADL Assessment Tools Used by the Grantees

This section summarizes the content and format of the various assessments the HOPE IV and CHSP grantees used to determine ADL limitations, supportive service needs, and program eligibility. The purpose is to show how the grantees interpreted the HUD guidelines and examine the degree of consistency among these grantees in the protocols they used.

Most project grantees used the ADL limitation measures developed by Sidney Katz and the IADL limitations based on definitions developed by M. Powell Lawton and Elaine Brody for the purposes of assessing frailty. These measures are described in detail in Chapter 4. The projects then used their own judgement when applying these personal care and home management disability measures to the program applicants for purposes of eligibility determination.

On the whole, the evaluations found that such eligibility determination was not based on a rigid, consistent process of HUD ADL limitation scoring and thresholds. Instead, the assessment instruments and procedures used by the grantees reflected a desire for a holistic assessment as an informed basis for selecting persons most likely to benefit from the program. The grantees ensured that the participants met the HUD ADL requirements, but there were many other domains of measurement that served as a basis for determining need for HOPE IV and CHSP services. These included other measures of physical and mental well-being. For example, tenants or residents who needed assistance in parts of tasks may have been assessed by the Program as having an impairment, even if they reported themselves as able to perform the function. Some assessments used a scoring system to assess impairment level, (e.g., some versus a lot of difficulty) rather than counts of ADL limitations. In other cases, the sites "mapped" their usual assessment procedures and scoring to the HUD list and computed scores for each of the HUD ADLs; this may have resulted in some differences between the professional assessment of the participant's ADL limitations and the self reports of ADL limitations presented in this report.

2.4 Supportive Services Packages and Service Provision Arrangements

In addition to case management provided by the Service Coordinator, as required under both the HOPE IV and CHSP programs, supportive services listed as allowable under the HUD regulations included personal care and grooming, transportation, meals, housekeeping, laundry, counseling, non-medical supervision, wellness programs, preventive health screening, monitoring of medication (in accordance with the limitations of State law), and other requested supportive services essential for achieving independent living, if approved by HUD.

2-7

Both HOPE IV and CHSP provided supportive services to address ADL and IADL limitations (e.g., housework, meal preparation, bathing), as well as other assistance, such as transportation. HUD regulations required all CHSP projects to provide congregate meals; although residents are not required to participate in this element of the program. HOPE IV projects did not provide congregate meals, but often delivered meals to home-bound participants or provided transportation to congregate nutrition programs, such as senior centers.

The HOPE IV and CHSP programs offered participants a similar core package of supportive services designed to enable them to stay in their own homes. As shown in Table 2-1, virtually all HOPE IV and CHSP grantees provided housekeeping and meals---for HOPE IV, home-delivered meals, for CHSP, congregate meals. About two-thirds of both also offered personal assistance services. However, while three-quarters of HOPE IV grantees offered transportation, only slightly under one-half of CHSP sites did so.

Table 2-1. Percentage of Projects Offering Specific Supportive Services				
	Hope IV CHSP			
	(%)	(%)		
Housekeeping	100	85		
Meals	100	93		
Personal Assistance	63	65		
Transportation	75	44		

Beyond this, distinctive clusters of services were offered by one program, but not the other. For example, some HOPE IV grantees offered counseling or other mental health services, medication monitoring, or recreational services. Some CHSP projects offered preventive health and companion services.

The HUD regulations governing the operation of the HOPE IV and CHSP programs permitted grantees to design and operate their supportive services system in a manner appropriate to their particular environments. The grantees were permitted to directly conduct or subcontract the functions of the Professional Assessment Committee (PAC) and the Service Coordinator, as well as the actual delivery of supportive services.

HOPE IV and CHSP projects established partnerships with a wide range of agencies in their communities. Partner agencies that provided services to program participants included: state agencies for the elderly and disabled; Area Agencies on Aging; home health agencies; mental health agencies; Visiting Nurse Associations; the United Way; Meals on Wheels; adult day care providers; and religious organizations. These agencies not only delivered services under contract with HOPE IV and CHSP funds, but also used their own funds to serve program participants. For example, Medicaid waiver funds were used in some states. These partner agencies were an integral part of the web of support and services HOPE IV and CHSP provided. They also helped extend the range and amount of service HOPE IV and CHSP could offer.

Arrangements for provision of services varied within and across the HOPE IV and CHSP programs. For example, 14 of the 16 HOPE IV grantees contracted with other community agencies to provide services; one grantee directly provided some services and contracted for others; and only one, with a history of services for the aging, was directly involved in delivery of services to HOPE IV participants. Similarly, some CHSP sites provided services directly, while others contracted for services from other providers or obtained them as part of the program's match requirement.

2.5 Service Coordinators

Service coordination, or the linkage of the frail elderly participants to supportive services, is a cornerstone of the HOPE IV and CHSP programs. It is also the defining feature of the Service Coordinator Program (SCP), another HUD initiative to enable elderly residents of congregate housing to age in place and live independently. The SCP began in 1992 to coordinate the provision of supportive services to the elderly and persons with disabilities living in HUD-assisted projects constructed with Section 202, Section 8, Section 221(d), and Section 236 support. HUD sponsored an evaluation of the SCP, which focused on 18 sites among the universe of 645 funded projects. Half of the 18 sites were new SCP grantees and the other nine were established projects that had been in operation between 1.5 and 2.5 years. Consistent with CHSP, most of the 18 sites were 202 or Section 8 projects; however, the actual locations were not the same. Unlike CHSP, however, there was no frailty requirement for SCP eligibility, and the use of a Professional Assessment Committee, while permissible, was not required.

This section of the report will discuss the results of the process evaluation of the SCP along with those of the HOPE IV and CHSP evaluations in order to provide as broad as possible a perspective on the critically important Service Coordinator role. In contrast to HOPE IV, the CHSP and SCP provide on-site Service Coordinators based in the congregate living facilities. Apart from this, the core functions of the Service Coordinators - namely, to link program participants to needed supportive services, and monitor service provision - are essentially the same across all three programs.

2.5.1 Service Coordinator Qualifications and Working Arrangements

Service Coordinators had to meet broadly specified educational and experience requirements. Most Service Coordinators in all three programs were well qualified for the position by both education and experience. All but one or two of the HOPE IV Service Coordinators held at least a Bachelors Degree in a field such as Social Work, Sociology, or Human Services, and several had earned Masters degrees. All had some, and several possessed extensive, prior experience working in programs for the elderly. Most felt that their training and experience had prepared them well for the job, if not always for the intensity of the demands placed upon them. SCP Service Coordinators were similarly well qualified and prepared, with educational backgrounds very similar to those of the HOPE IV Service Coordinators and previous relevant experience working at a variety of community agencies.

HOPE IV grantees were about evenly divided between those who hired a new person for the Service Coordinator position and those who hired someone already part of an existing service delivery network. There was some relationship, in turn, between grantees relying on an existing network and the Service Coordinator spending only a portion rather than all of her time on HOPE IV, at least at the outset. In the Spring of 1995, nine of 16 HOPE IV Service Coordinators reported job responsibilities that extended beyond the HOPE IV program, all but one involving similar case management functions for clients in other community programs for the frail elderly. The 18 Service Coordinator Program sites also had a variety of Service Coordinator working arrangements. Thirteen SCPs had part-time Service Coordinators who worked less than 40 hours per week, and 11 Service Coordinators worked at more than one SCP site.

HUD guidelines also gave the HOPE IV, CHSP, and SCP grantees considerable flexibility in the organizational placement of the Service Coordinators, who could be employees of the housing authorities and developments, or contracted from other agencies. For the HOPE IV Program, in communities with an existing agency capacity to conduct functional assessments and develop service plans, it usually made sense for the PHA to contract with an agency such as the Area Agency on Aging to perform the Service Coordinator functions. HOPE IV grantees were about evenly split between those who directly employed

the Service Coordinator and those who subcontracted with the Area Agency on Aging or others for the performance of this function. In many cases in which the Service Coordinator was an Area Agency on Aging employee, her services were part of a total package contracted by the PHA for the HOPE IV participants. Fewer (only three of 18) SCP sites contracted for their Service Coordinators rather than hire them directly.

The nature of the relationship between the Service Coordinators and housing personnel varied somewhat across the three programs. In both the CHSP and the SCP, Service Coordinators, although functioning autonomously, could work with building personnel on a day-to-day basis. In fact, the SCP was designed, in part, to relieve pressures on the building managers to deal with the burgeoning supportive service needs of residents aging in place. SCP Service Coordinators worked with property managers, to varying degrees, in planning program activities and interacting with residents. Not surprisingly, property managers at new SCPs had more involvement than those at established SCPs, and the level of involvement tended to decrease as Service Coordinators became more familiar with the residents. Overall, SCP Service Coordinators and property managers enjoyed good working relationships that ultimately succeeded, as intended, in freeing the latter to spend more of their time on building management.

Hiring or contracting for a Service Coordinator typically involved HOPE IV grantee PHAs in new and different sorts of working arrangements with other community agencies. Several grantees identified increased frequency of interaction and greater ease of communication between the PHA and the Area Agency on Aging as important unintended side benefits of HOPE IV participation specifically attributable to the presence of the Service Coordinator. In this, as in many other respects, the HOPE IV Service Coordinators assumed a more central role than originally envisioned.

2.5.2 The Dimensions of the Service Coordinator Role

The Service Coordinator responsibilities for all three programs included:

- Intake, including recruitment and enrollment of participants into the program;
- Working with (and, if necessary, constituting) a Professional Assessment Committee (PAC) to assess eligibility and determine service needs (optional for SCP);
- Working with the PAC and service providers to create service packages tailored to the individual needs of the frail elderly participants, and periodically reassessing their needs and adjusting the service plans accordingly (SCP had no frailty requirements for eligibility);

- Providing case management, including establishing linkages to service providers in the community, referring and linking participants to services, and monitoring the provision of services; and,
- Educating participants on services and service availability.

In addition, CHSP and SCP guidelines specified a role for Service Coordinators in helping residents build informal support networks and suggested a possible role in educating other staff on issues related to aging-in-place and service coordination.

The relative mix of activities that developed over time was very different for the HOPE IV Service Coordinators than for the CHSP and SCP Service Coordinators in more established projects. This occurred mainly because recruitment and enrollment into the HOPE IV Program proved far more demanding and time-consuming and continued nearly unabated throughout the life of the Demonstration. The result was that the HOPE IV Service Coordinators stepped into a vacuum to take on a variety of unanticipated functions, including marketing the Program to different audiences, helping applicants fill out Section 8 paperwork, locating appropriate housing, and providing help in obtaining benefits. Over time a conflict often developed between focusing on "front end" activities such as marketing, recruitment and assessment, and paying closer ongoing attention to the shifting needs of the already enrolled HOPE IV participants.

By contrast, CHSP Service Coordinators did not experience the same challenges with recruitment and enrollment in large part because residents were already living in the congregate facilities. Although they employed a variety of outreach methods (e.g., fliers and brochures, newsletters), CHSP Service Coordinators could rely mostly on "word-of-mouth" and the help of the resident services staff in identifying individuals who might benefit from the Program. For the SCP, recruitment was similarly a matter of building on existing channels (placing articles in resident newsletters, holding a social event) and utilizing the knowledge of building managers in locating good candidates for program participation. Consequently, for both the CHSP and SCP, recruitment and enrollment only occupied a significant share of the Service Coordinators' time while the programs were first getting started.

Service Coordinators in all three programs also assumed some responsibility for assessing the applicants' functional status to ensure they met the eligibility criteria for entering the program. However, again, while assessment remained a major part of the HOPE IV Service Coordinators' activities throughout the five-year périod, it dwindled in importance after the initial start-up period for CHSP Service Coordinators and was a major activity only for SCP Service Coordinators in new projects.

Again, differences between HOPE IV, on the one hand, and the CHSP and SCP, on the other, reflect the anomaly that enrollment of new participants continued throughout the course of the HOPE IV demonstration. The CHSP and SCP role "normalized" more quickly and completely, permitting these Service Coordinators to dispense more readily with "front end" activities such as recruitment and assessment, and focus their energies on their primary case management duties. For HOPE IV Service Coordinators, the strain was never entirely resolved. However, the situation improved with the availability in 1994 of additional funds for service coordination, which allowed nine of the 16 HOPE IV grantees to extend the Service Coordinator's hours or hire another person part-time.

In addition to performing their officially designated duties, Service Coordinators emphasized the part of their role that involved direct personal engagement with frail elderly program participants. HOPE IV Service Coordinators reported that interaction with participants occupied the single largest share of their time, much of it spent conducting routine checks and friendly visiting. Being located in the same building made it possible for CHSP Service Coordinators to provide the kind of small day-to-day assistance (reading prescriptions, help with the washing machine) that helped participants continue to function and reassured them they could obtain the help they need(ed). Service Coordinators in established SCP projects also reported devoting much of their time to counseling and support, meeting with, and advising residents.

2.5.3 Participant Views of and Interactions with their Service Coordinators

HOPE IV, CHSP and SCP participants were very satisfied with their Service Coordinators. In many cases, participants identified the Program with the person of their Service Coordinator. At baseline, 82 percent, and at follow-up, 91 percent, of HOPE IV participants reported they were very satisfied with their Service Coordinators. Those few who said they would have liked something more from their Service Coordinators wanted more of the same services the Service Coordinators were already providing.

When asked what their Service Coordinators did for them, when first entering the Program, HOPE IV participants emphasized the help they got from their Service Coordinators with obtaining and scheduling services, getting rental assistance/housing, and qualifying for the Program. Two years later, they gave greater emphasis to the monitoring and socializing aspects of the role, as well as the information their Service Coordinators provided to them about services. At both points in time, however, the Service Coordinator activities the HOPE IV participants valued most were help in obtaining and scheduling services, and help in securing housing and rental assistance.

At baseline, CHSP residents also saw the Service Coordinators' central functions as providing information about, and helping to arrange, services. As well, they viewed the Service Coordinator "as their friend and a conduit to whatever help they need(ed)." CHSP Service Coordinators pointed to the benefits of having someone on-site to help with daily problems, check on residents regularly, and monitor service delivery. They reported that knowledge that there was someone there all the time contributed to a greater sense of security for the participants and their families.

Among SCP residents, the largest number also mentioned the Service Coordinator as "someone who would listen to and help solve their problems." Residents also valued the help their Service Coordinators provided in linking them to services and making them aware of available services and how to access them. As with CHSP, residents of SCP projects also said they felt more secure knowing the Service Coordinator was available to them, even if they had never actually solicited her assistance.

At baseline, not surprisingly, CHSP participants saw their Service Coordinators more often than HOPE IV participants did theirs, but this did not translate into more frequent meetings to discuss service needs. Excluding those who reported never having seen their Service Coordinators, two-thirds of CHSP participants but only 14 percent of HOPE IV participants indicated contact of once a week or more. However, CHSP participants were answering the question of how often they saw their Service Coordinator, which in a congregate setting might mean chancing upon her in the hallway or stopping to chat in the dining room. Comparing HOPE IV and CHSP participants' responses to the question of how often they met with their Service Coordinators specifically to discuss their service needs, at baseline, 42 percent of HOPE IV participants, and 34 percent of CHSP participants, indicated they met with their Service Coordinators more than once a month for these purposes.

At follow-up, the percentage of HOPE IV participants who saw their Service Coordinators more than once a month to discuss service needs fell to 13 percent, with the modal category (39 percent) those who reported contact of once a month. Between baseline and follow-up, the average frequency of contact with HOPE IV Service Coordinators fell from nearly 23 times a year to 11 times a year, or from nearly twice a month to just under once a month. A decline in the frequency of the HOPE IV participants' in-person contact with their Service Coordinators reflects a pattern of more intense contact when the participants first entered the Program, followed by more routine, less frequent contact once they were settled in their housing with a service plan in place. Also, as their caseloads rose, some HOPE IV Service Coordinators shifted from in-person to telephone contact as their routine means of staying in touch with their elderly clients, reserving in-person visits for more pressing or unusual circumstances (e.g., a dramatic deterioration in the participant's health that would necessitate an immediate change in service plans). The data are not available to assess whether the CHSP participants experienced a similar diminution in contact with their Service Coordinators over time. However, one would speculate that the pattern remained more stable because the CHSP Service Coordinators were located in the same buildings as their clients, and were not experiencing the same pressures as their HOPE IV counterparts.

2.5.4 Service Coordinators: A Summary

- Most Service Coordinators in the HOPE IV, CHSP, and SCP programs were well qualified for their positions and had prior relevant experience. Grantees took advantage of the flexibility allowed by HUD to produce a diversity of Service Coordinator working arrangements.
- HOPE IV, CHSP and SCP participants were very satisfied with their Service Coordinators. All emphasized the Service Coordinator's help in linking them to, and providing information about, services. HOPE IV participants also gave primacy to their Service Coordinator's help in obtaining housing and rental assistance, whereas CHSP and SCP residents tended to highlight the more personal, interactive aspects of the relationship.
- At baseline, CHSP participants saw their Service Coordinators much more frequently than did HOPE IV participants on a day-to-day basis, but actually met with to discuss their service plans with their Service Coordinators slightly less often. However, the frequency of the HOPE IV participants' in-person contacts with their Service Coordinators declined considerably between baseline and follow-up.
- Largely because the unexpectedly heavy requirements of recruiting and enrolling participants continued far into the five-year period, the HOPE IV Service Coordinator role developed differently than in the other two programs. HOPE IV Service Coordinators had to continue to devote significant time and energy to "front end" tasks, whereas Service Coordinators in the CHSP and established SCP projects were able to focus more exclusively on case management functions after the initial start-up period.

The implications of these findings, especially as they bear on differences in the Service Coordinator role in scattered site versus congregate settings, are discussed in the conclusion to this report.



3. DEMOGRAPHIC AND HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS OF THE HOPE IV AND CHSP PARTICIPANTS

3.1 Demographic Characteristics

HOPE for Elderly Independence and the new Congregate Housing Services Program brought frail elderly persons and an accompanying system of case management and supportive services well into the purview of HUD housing assistance programs, often for the first time. To be eligible for HOPE IV and CHSP participants had to meet the programs' age, income, and frailty guidelines, but the evaluation identified many other important patterns of demographic characteristics within these criteria. Of particular interest for this chapter are those factors that prior research shows are highly correlated with risk of institutionalization and need for services. These factors include advanced age, living alone, and minority status.

3.1.1 Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Gender

Consistent with the profile of frail elderly, nationwide, the baseline evaluation surveys found that the vast majority of HOPE IV and CHSP participants were white females, many of whom were of advanced age. Table 3-1 shows that over half of the participants were at least 75 years old; however, CHSP participants were markedly older, with a median age of 82 years, versus 74 years for HOPE IV. Of particular interest is the fact that nearly half of the HOPE IV participants were under the age of 75, a group not often at high risk for institutionalization. For example, only 16 percent of elderly nursing home residents are less than 75 years of age.⁸ Conversely, only 22 percent of CHSP participants were under

Table 3-1.						
Demographic Characteristics:						
Age, Race/Et	hnicity, and G	ender				
Characteristics $HOPE IV$ CHSP (n-543) $(n=591)(%)$ $(%)$						
Age		(,,,)				
62-74	50	22				
75-84	34	40				
85 and over	16	38				
Median age in years	74	82				
Race						
White	90	93				
Black	3	6				
Other	3	1				
Hispanic Origin*	10	2				
Gender						
Female	80	83				
Male 20 17						

*Hispanics can be of any race.

⁸ National Center for Health Statistics, 1985 National Nursing Home Survey, *Vital and Health Statistics*, Series 13, No. 97, Table 27.

age 75. However, when analyzing HOPE IV participant data on frailty according to age, as discussed in Chapter 4 below, we found that the youngest group reported rates of limitation in activities of daily living similar to those for people age 75 and older.

Nearly all the HOPE IV and CHSP participants were white; only three percent of HOPE IV and six percent of CHSP participants were black. Those of Hispanic origin, who can be of any race, comprised ten percent of HOPE IV and two percent of CHSP participants. Virtually all of the HOPE IV Hispanic participants were from a single grantee PHA in an area with a high concentration of Mexican-American elderly. The percentage figures for Hispanic participants, therefore, are a function of project location and grantee recruitment and placement practices rather than an indication of low-income and frailty levels on the part of Hispanic elderly.

Federal statistical agency data show that most poor, frail elderly in this country are female, and the HOPE IV and CHSP participants reflected this national trend. For example, according to the Census Bureau, of persons age 65 and over who are below the poverty threshold and have a severe disability, 78 percent are women and 22 percent are men.⁹ Approximately 80 percent of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants were female, mirroring the profile of America's population of low-income, frail elderly, overall. This pattern generally held across all the grantee sites.

3.1.2 Marital Status and Living Arrangements

Most of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants had been widowed for many years and were living alone. As Table 3-2 shows, only about 10 percent of participants were married at the time of the survey, while over 60 percent were widowed and another 30 to 40 percent were either divorced, separated, or never married. The vast majority of participants in both the HOPE IV and CHSP programs (86 and 88 percent, respectively) lived alone. Consistent with the focus of HOPE IV and CHSP, persons who are frail and live alone are at considerable risk, often relying on outside help for performing basic life activities, such as personal care and home management.

⁹ McNeil, J.M., Americans with Disabilities: 1991-92, U.S. Bureau of the Census, Current Population Reports, P70-33, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1993, Tables 13 and 14.

Over 40 percent of the HOPE IV participants moved to new rental housing to participate in the program, either to meet Section 8 Housing Quality Standards or the rental (versus owner) housing requirement. This figure is somewhat higher than the approximately one-third of Section 8 Voucher holders (of all ages) who move to quality for rental Vouchers or Certificates. Many HOPE IV applicants, lived in rental housing not meeting Section 8 requirements; in some cases, the applicants owned their residences.

Table 3-2. Demographic Characteristics: Marital Status and Living Arrangements					
Characteristics $HOPE IV$ CHSP (n=543) $(n=590)(%)$ $(%)$					
Marital status	(,,,,)	(70)			
Widowed	61	70			
Divorced/Separated	25	11			
Married	9	10			
Never married	5	4			
Living arrangements					
living alone	86	88			
2 persons	13	12			
Moved to qualify for HOPE IV					
Yes	42	NA			
No	57	NA			
Unknown	1	NA			

These individuals either chose to forego enrollment in the HOPE IV program by not moving, or they relocated into qualifying housing as HOPE IV participants. Conversely, nearly 60 percent of participants already lived in rental housing meeting HUD Housing Quality Standards. CHSP, as distinct from HOPE IV, enrolled participants who were already congregate housing residents, avoiding any need to move.

Figures on moving are important for several reasons. First, studies of the elderly show that changing residence can be a traumatic experience that exacerbates, rather than alleviates, the problems of frailty that HOPE IV was attempting to address. Second, as interviews with Service Coordinators and other HOPE IV staff revealed, locating suitable housing for frail elderly was a substantial barrier to implementation of the program. The rental units not only had to meet Section 8 Housing Quality Standards, but also had to appeal to the frail elderly, in terms of accessibility, safety, and proximity to community services. In this regard, there were problems of housing availability. For example, Service Coordinators reported that after being on a Section 8 waiting list for several years, some HOPE IV participants had to place themselves on waiting lists for private rental housing for the elderly in their community in order to obtain a suitable apartment.

3.1.3 Length of Time in Current Residence

Nearly half of the HOPE IV participants had moved into their current home within one year of enrollment, either in conjunction with the HOPE IV program or for other reasons. In contrast, only 12 percent of the CHSP participants had lived in their current home for less than one year (Table 3-3).

This pattern of housing tenure was a function of design differences in the two programs. All HOPE IV participants were new to HUD housing assistance programs, per the legislative requirements.

Current Section 8 and other tenants were ineligible for HOPE IV. In contrast, CHSP participants were drawn from current residents of HUD assisted congregate housing. For this reason, only about onequarter of HOPE IV participants had lived in their rental housing at least five years versus 53 percent for the CHSP participants.

HOPE IV participants who had moved within one year of enrolling in the

Table 3-3. Housing Characteristics: Length of Time in Current Home/Apartment				
Characteristics $(m=543)$ $(m=586)$ (m=543) $(m=586)$				
Less than 6 months	32	5		
6-11 months	17	7		
1-4 years	27	35		
5-10 years	13	26		
More than 10 years	11	27		

program identified their reasons for relocating. HOPE IV was a combination of two types of benefits, Section 8 rental assistance and supportive services. Given the long waiting periods for receiving Section 8, in many cases more than two years, grantee locales had a substantial unmet demand for affordable, rental housing. At the same time, given the requirements of HOPE IV, applicants may have had to choose between staying in their current (but unqualified) home and foregoing HOPE IV services, or giving up their residence in order to meet the rental housing and housing quality standards of Section 8. For these reasons, the study sought to distinguish between participants who moved primarily as a function of HOPE IV program requirements and those who reported another primary reason. Of those participants who had lived in their home for less than one year, 42 percent said they had moved as a function of HOPE IV. Fourteen percent cited Section 8 rental assistance, and 43 percent said they had moved for reasons unrelated to program participation, such as proximity to children, safety, and cost. Given the benefits of remaining in place for this frail elderly population, the impact analysis explored the relationship between housing stability and various outcome measures, such as nursing home placement and life satisfaction (see Chapter 6).

4. FUNCTIONAL STATUS AND HEALTH

4.1 Frailty of HOPE IV and CHSP Participants

HOPE IV and CHSP regulations required that participants qualify for HUD-assisted housing by virtue of their low-income and need for assistance in personal care and home management activities. As Chapter 2 described, these activities cut across two primary measures of frailty frequently used in research: limitations in *Activities of Daily Living (ADL)* and *Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL)*. ADLs include very basic activities essential to independent living: eating, dressing, bathing, transferring (between bed and chair), and toileting (getting to and using the toilet as opposed to continence).¹⁰ IADLs go beyond ADLs in level of complexity and include handling personal finances, meal preparation, shopping, traveling about the community, doing housework, using the telephone, and taking medications.¹¹

To ensure consistency with the considerable body of prior research on the frail elderly, the HOPE IV and CHSP study designs collected data on these standard ADL/IADL measures, as well as on the additional activities in the HOPE IV and CHSP regulations. By combining these measures, this report can present functional profiles of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants that relate to both the HUD program regulations and to other studies of frailty among the elderly, especially participants in other community-based, long-term care programs. The following tables and accompanying narrative begin with the traditional ADL/IADL measures and end with a presentation and discussion of frailty as defined by the HOPE IV and CHSP program regulations.

4.1.1 Activity of Daily Living Limitations

Table 4-1 identifies the number and percentage of HOPE IV and CHSP participants who reported difficulty in performing each of five ADLs, including those who were unable to do so, as well as those who had some or a lot of difficulty. Between one-third and one half of the participants in both programs reported difficulty with four of the five activities, indicating substantial levels of frailty among the participants at baseline.

¹⁰ Katz, S., and C.A. Apkom, A measure of primary sociobiological functions. *International Journal of Health Sciences* 6:493-508, 1976.

¹¹ Lawton, M.P., and E.M. Brody, Assessment of older people: Self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Gerontologist* 9:179-186, 1969.

Table 4-1. Frailty Characteristics: Activity of Daily Living (ADL) Limitations at Baseline				
HOPE IVCHSPActivities(n=543)(n=286)				
Activities	(%)	(%)		
Limitation in				
Bed/chair transfer	55	67		
Bathing	46	57		
Dressing	45	56		
Using toilet	32	46		
Feeding self	14	21		
Multiple ADL				
Limitations - One or more	74	79		

The ADL scale is hierarchical, and certain activities are more indicative of frailty than others. For example, difficulty feeding one's self, while of relatively low prevalence, represents the most severe limitation.¹² Therefore, when interpreting the figures in the tables, it is important to realize that low rates of difficulty actually represent those activities for which the elderly need the greatest level of assistance.

HOPE IV and CHSP participants were considerably more frail than the elderly population as a whole, in terms of the ADL difficulty criteria in Table 4-1. Measures of ADL difficulty address very basic life activities essential for independent living, affecting a relatively small percentage of the overall elderly population. For example, among all non-institutionalized elderly age 65 and over, only 11 percent reported a limitation in at least one ADL, ranging from about 9 percent for dressing to approximately 1 percent for feeding oneself.¹³ In contrast, nearly three-quarters of HOPE IV participants and nearly 80 percent of CHSP participants reported difficulty performing at least one ADL.

When describing physical frailty, other community-based, long-term care surveys or programs often identify the number of persons receiving (or needing) help from another person to perform the activity, as opposed to just having a difficulty or a limitation. These studies use the term ADL dependencies to describe this measure, which identifies a more severe limitation than simply reporting difficulty performing the activity. Using this constructed definition, approximately 30 percent of HOPE IV participants reported receiving help from another person for at least one of the five ADLs. To put these figures in perspective,

¹² Ficke, R.C. *Digest of Data on Persons with Disabilities*. Washington, DC: National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research, 1992.

¹³ Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, 1987 National Medical Expenditure Survey, Research Findings 4.

only about 8 percent of the total household population age 65 and older reported receiving such help from another person in performing at least one of these five ADLs.¹⁴

While HOPE IV and CHSP participants were considerably more frail than the elderly population overall, they were much less frail than persons who receive, or are eligible for, nursing home care. Approximately 92 percent of nursing home residents age 65 and older had at least one ADL dependency, in this case involving the assistance of another person. These dependencies included incontinence (e.g., using a catheter or bedpan), and they range from a high of 91 percent for dressing to a low of 40 percent for eating.¹⁵ Involving a similar clientele needing skilled nursing care, the recent Program for All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE) programs focused on elderly persons who were eligible for nursing home care but chose to receive services in the community. Between 79 percent and 95 percent of participants in the PACE program had at least one ADL dependency.¹⁶ Also targeting a nursing home eligible elderly population, the Federal government's Long Term Care Channeling Demonstration program participants had an ADL dependency rate of approximately 84 percent.¹⁷

The purpose of these ADL comparisons, as summarized in Table 4-2, is to show where HOPE IV participants lie along a continuum, from the elderly household population in general through those who receive or qualify for nursing home care. Comparable CHSP data was not available.

4.1.2 Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Limitations

While ADL limitations focus on personal care needs, the Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) scale covers a higher level of functioning associated with care of the home.

¹⁴ Wiener, J.M., et al "Measuring the activities of daily living: Comparisons across national surveys," *Journal of Gerontology:* SOCIAL SCIENCES, 45, No. 6 1990.

¹⁵ National Center for Health Statistics, 1985 National Nursing Home Survey, Vital and Health Statistics, Series 13, No. 97, Table 27.

¹⁶ Branch, L.G., et al "The PACE evaluation: Initial findings," *The Gerontologist*, 35, No. 3 1995.

¹⁷ Kemper, P., et al *The Evaluation of the National Long Term Care Demonstration: Final Report*, Mathematica Policy Research, Inc., Princeton, NJ, 1986, p. 41.

IADL limitations pertain to many of the frailty criteria in the HOPE IV and CHSP regulations including need for assistance in preparing meals, shopping, doing light housework, and managing money. HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported difficulty performing these activities ranging from a high of 83 and 81 percent, respectively, for light housework to a low of 33 and 45 percent, respectively, for managing money, as Table 4-3 shows. The IADL difficulty rates in Table 4-3 measure the relatively complex domains of functioning that HOPE IV and

Table 4-2.Frailty Characteristics:Comparing HOPE IV with Other Long-TermCare Programs for the Frail Elderly			
	Persons with at Least		
	One ADL		
Dependency*			
Program	(%)		
Household population 65+	8		
HOPE IV (at baseline)	30		
Channeling demonstrations	84		
PACE demonstrations	79-95		
Nursing home residents 65+	92		

*ADL dependency means receiving help from another person to perform an activity of daily living.

CHSP participants require for independent living in scattered site and congregate rental housing, with the help of case management and supportive services to perform these activities.

To put these figures in perspective, 18 percent of the total household population age 65 and older reported at least one IADL limitation, in this case from a list of six activities include the above four as well as using the telephone and getting around the community.¹⁸ Also by way of comparison, virtually all nursing home residents and participants in the PACE and

Table 4-3.Frailty Characteristics:Instrumental Activity of Daily Living (IADL)Limitations at Baseline					
ActivitiesHOPE IV $(n=543)$ $(\%)$ CHSP $(n=590)$ $(\%)$					
Reports difficulty in:					
Doing light housework 83 81					
Shopping	76	72			
Preparing meals 56 56					
Managing money	33	45			

Channeling programs had at least one IADL difficulty, consistent with the relatively high level of physical and cognitive functioning that IADLs require.

For this study, the main value of data on ADL and IADL limitation rates to control for service need when analyzing impact in terms of nursing home placement, changes in well-being, and the other measures presented in Chapter 6, and in analyzing adherence to HUD eligibility requirements, as covered in the next section.

¹⁸ Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, 1987 National Medical Expenditure Survey, Research Findings, 4.

4.1.3 Analysis of HOPE IV and CHSP Eligibility

During interviews with HOPE IV and CHSP grantees, the Service Coordinators and others stated that they had considerable difficulty interpreting the eligibility criteria that participants be "deficient in at least three activities of daily living," as the program regulations defined them. Also, for eligibility determination purposes, all but one of the 16 first-round HOPE IV grantees and many of the CHSP sites used their own existing local assessment instruments and procedures to collect and cross-walk traditional ADL and IADL information to the HUD criteria The grantees used their own judgment in translating their assessment results according to HOPE IV and CHSP eligibility criteria.

For the purposes of standardizing and analyzing grantee adherence to the HOPE IV and CHSP eligibility criteria, the evaluations asked the participants about their ability to perform the 12 activities mentioned in the HOPE IV and CHSP regulations (See Table 4-4). Using these eligibility criteria, 81 percent of HOPE IV participants and 76 percent of CHSP participants reported difficulty performing at least three of these activities.

The ADL difficulty information in Table 4-4 suggests that about 19 percent of the HOPE IV and 24 percent of the CHSP participants had fewer than three ADL difficulties, contrary to the HOPE IV and CHSP program regulations. As one explanation for this disparity, prior research in measuring ADL difficulties shows that frail elderly persons, especially women, self-report fewer difficulties than do professionals when assessing them. For example, in their work with the Women's Health and Aging Study, sponsored by the National Institute on Aging, Westat and Johns Hopkins University researchers found that frail elderly women in the community under-reported their level of ADL difficulties compared to the functional assessments and physical performance tests conducted by study team professional staff.¹⁹ In addition, this study found that such under-reports of functional capacity come, in part, from various adaptive behaviors on the part of the frail elderly (e.g., changing how they approach an activity) to compensate for a limitation in functioning. The study also found that respondents were quite unaware that this decline in functioning had occurred, which may also help to explain some of the under-reporting. These findings are consistent with others in the literature on frailty among the elderly.²⁰

¹⁹ Guralnik J.M., et al., eds. The Women's Health and Aging Study: Health and Social Characteristics of Older Women with Disability. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Aging, 1995, p 28.

²⁰ Rubenstein, et al., Systematic biases in functional status assessment of elderly adults: Effects of different data sources. *Journal of Gerontology*, 39:686-69, 1984.

Table 4-4.				
Frailty Characteristics:				
HUD ADL Difficulties (12 activity categories)				
	HOPE IV	CHSP		
Activities	(n=543)	(n=590)		
	(%)	(%)		
Reports difficulty:				
Feeding self	14	9		
Preparing meals	56	56		
Washing self	46	45		
Getting in and out of				
shower/tub	70	59		
Using toilet	32	24		
Personal grooming	31	27		
Washing hair	52	49		
Dressing	45	38		
Bed/Chair transferring	55	54		
Housework	83	81		
Shopping	76	72		
Managing money	33	45		
Total limitations: *				
0-2	19	24		
3-5	27	26		
6+	54	50		

* For CHSP the total number of activities was 13, for HOPE IV it was 12 (excluding difficulty using the telephone)

As another possible explanation for under reporting, the high level of participant satisfaction with the HOPE IV and CHSP programs and fear of losing the benefits may have discouraged participants from reporting ADL limitations. Participants may have been unwilling to admit difficulties that either suggested criticism of the HOPE IV or CHSP programs (for not meeting all their needs) or that implied they might have needed nursing home or other restricted forms of care that they wanted to avoid.

In addition, as the previous interim reports on the HOPE IV and CHSP²¹ programs showed, there was considerable variation in how grantees interpreted the program eligibility requirements and measured ADL difficulties using their own assessment instruments and procedures. Most grantee assessments categorized ADL difficulty according to several levels, ranging from inability to perform an activity at all to just having some difficulty with it. Some grantees assigned numeric scores depending on the particular activity and the level of difficulty, and they used these as a basis for determining HOPE IV and CHSP

²¹ Ficke, RC and Susan Berkowitz, Evaluation of the HOPE for Elderly Independence Demonstration Program: Second Interim Report, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Washington, D.C. 1996; Evaluation of the New Congregate Housing Services Program, Research Triangle Institute, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Washington, D.C. 1996

eligibility. These procedures varied from site to site, which may explain some of the inconsistency between the evaluation survey findings and local practice in ascertaining HOPE IV and CHSP eligibility. This local indicator also confirms the viability of using the standard frailty measures in the evaluation's survey instruments to ensure consistent data across the program sites for this study.

4.2 Health Status

This section uses a variety of indicators to describe the self-reported health status of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants. Some of these indicators relate to acute medical conditions and care, including hospital stays and doctor visits. Others cover chronic, or long-term, conditions such as heart disease, hypertension, and diabetes. Equally important are the consequences or outcomes of one's health status and conditions, such as the number of days participants are confined to a bed or chair. While the frailty measures listed above were the primary basis for establishing HOPE IV and CHSP eligibility, there is a high correlation between chronic activity limitation and overall health status. For this reason, HOPE IV and CHSP participants would be expected to report numerous medical problems.

4.2.1 Health Conditions

Consistent with their functional limitation status, HOPE IV and CHSP participants at baseline reported having many chronic health conditions. Table 4-5 shows the range of these health conditions (based on what their doctor or other health professional had told them). About one-half of HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported having high blood pressure, and 39 to 45 percent of participants, respectively, indicated having a heart condition. Between 14 and 20 percent of HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported having had a stroke.

In their health status and ADL limitations, HOPE IV and CHSP participants at baseline were broadly similar to residents of board and care homes and other recipients of community-based supportive services. For example, a probability survey of residents of North Carolina domiciliary care facilities found that 14 percent of residents had diabetes, ²² and a study of elderly recipients of companion services found

²² Hawes, C., Lux, L., Wildfire, J., Green, R., Packer, L., Iannachione, V. & Phillips, C. <u>Study of North Carolina Domiciliary</u> <u>Care Home Residents</u>. Submitted to North Carolina Department of Human Resources, Division of Facility Services, 1995a.

ten percent with diabetes. In the North Carolina domiciliary care survey, 12 percent of residents were found to have serious respiratory conditions, and 26 percent had hypertension.²³

Table 4-5. Health Characteristics: Health Conditions at Baseline				
HOPE IV CHSP				
Conditions	(n=543)	(n=590)		
	(%)	(%)		
Hypertension	53	49		
Heart Disease	45	39		
Diabetes	19	20		
Stroke	18	15		
Arteriosclerosis	14	19		

4.2.2 Frequency of Falls

Even with case management and personal assistance, HOPE IV and CHSP participants spent considerable time alone in their homes. For a frail elderly population, the risk of falls was always present and a potential source of injury. As Table 4-6 shows, 22 percent of persons in HOPE IV and 12 percent of CHSP participants said they sought medical care as a result of falling; and 9 percent and 7 percent, respectively, were hospitalized for more than 1 day due to a fall.

Table 4-6. Health Characteristics: Frequency of Falls at Baseline*				
HOPE IVCHSPCharacteristics $(n=543)$ $(n=590)$ $(\%)$ $(\%)$ $(\%)$				
Fallen during past year and:				
Sought medical care	22	12		
Hospitalized over 1 day	9	7		

* Percent of all persons.

It is interesting to note that these fall rates were almost twice as high for HOPE IV as for CHSP participants. As a possible explanation, the apartments occupied by HOPE IV participants frequently required climbing stairs for entry (41 percent), and some of these participants reported difficulty entering

²³ Differences in the age mix of residents and the ways of measuring the health conditions mean that the figures are not precisely comparable, but the comparisons reinforce the view that HOPE IV and CHSP services were being targeted to a population that was in need of services and potentially at risk of death or institutional placement.

their home (14 percent) and getting around their home (8 percent). Congregate housing typically does not require climbing steps, and architectural designs are usually devoid of barriers to entry and movement around the apartment.

4.2.3 Medical Care Access and Use

Despite their high level of frailty and high prevalence of chronic health conditions, the majority of the HOPE IV and CHSP participants had not been confined to bed or a chair at all during the month prior to the baseline interview and had not stayed in a hospital overnight at all during the prior 12 months. However, more than a third of both groups of participants had stayed overnight as a hospital in-patient over the prior year, which is twice the rate for the elderly household population as a whole (See Table 4-7).²⁴

Table 4-7.					
	Health Characteristics: Health Care Utilization at Baseline				
HOPE IVCHSPCharacteristics $(n=543)$ $(n=590)$ $(\%)$ $(\%)$ $(\%)$					
During past year:					
Was overnight hospital patient	42	36			
During past month:					
Stayed in bed or chair most of the day due to health problem:					
No days	61	78			
1-7 days	9	13			
8 or more days	29	9			

Disability days, that is, the number of days a person stayed in bed or a chair most of the time due to a health problem, represent a common health status measure. Sixty-one percent of the HOPE IV and 78 percent of CHSP participants reported no disability days at all. However, 36 percent of HOPE IV and 22 percent of the CHSP participants stayed in bed or a chair most of the day at least once during the month prior to the baseline survey due to a health problem.

²⁴ U.S. Bureau of the Census, Current Population Reports, Series P-70, No. 8, Disability, Functional Limitation, and Health Insurance Coverage: 1984/85, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1986.

4.2.4 Mental Health, Quality of Life, and Cognitive Status

While the physical functioning measures presented thus far can effectively assess one's capacity for self-care and independent living, they say little about the quality of a person's life. Indeed, a major purpose of programs that prevent or delay inappropriate institutionalization is to enhance the many domains of mental, emotional, and social well-being. While the physical focus of the HOPE IV and CHSP eligibility criteria was quite appropriate for selecting participants, an important impact measure is the extent to which this program improves (or lessens the decline) in quality of life, relative to a comparison group over time.

The tables which follow show changes between the 1994 baseline survey of HOPE IV participants and a follow-up survey conducted two years later in 1996. There are also corresponding baseline and follow-up survey figures for a comparison group of frail elderly in Section 8 but not in HOPE IV. This allows tracking changes in the well-being of HOPE IV participants over time, relative to what would have occurred without the Program. While the relative changes and differences are interesting, as the following text and tables describe, the primary uses of these data are to support the multivariate analysis in Chapter 6 which shows the relationship between program participants and outcomes.

In spite of their poor health and frailty, most of the HOPE IV participants reported the quality of their lives to be relatively high, although this was not the case for all. Table 4-8 presents five measures of life satisfaction. (The data were collected for HOPE IV but not CHSP) Over one-third of the HOPE IV participants responded at baseline that they were, in general, very satisfied with the way their life is going, and 45 percent indicated they were somewhat satisfied with life. Almost one-fifth, however, said they were not satisfied. Most HOPE IV participants (56 percent) said they had a great deal of choice about what they do and when they do it, and over half reported they were very confident about their ability to deal with daily living. Almost half said they do not worry at all about whom to turn to for help, and over 50 percent reported their appetite as good. However, 17 percent of HOPE IV participants said they worry at lot of the time about not knowing whom to turn to for help, and 45 percent said their appetite was only fair to poor. The comparison group reported similar baseline rates of life satisfaction for all these items.

Table 4-8.				
Measu	res of Life S	Satisfaction		
	Participant		Comparison Group	
	Baseline	Follow-Up	Baseline	Follow-Up
Quality of Life Measures	(n=543)	(n=286)	(n=523)	(n=324)
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Life satisfaction:				
Very satisfied	36	32	32	28
Somewhat satisfied	45	50	47	52
Not satisfied	19	16	18	18
Unknown	1	1	3	2
Amount of choice:				
A great deal	56	48	50	55
Some	34	43	37	35
None	8	7	10	9
Unknown	1	2	2	2
Confidence:				
Very confident	51	48	49	47
Somewhat confident	40	39	43	44
Not confident	7	10	6	6
Unknown	2	2	2	3
Amount of worry:				
A lot	17	11	18	18
Some	35	32	34	28
Not at all	47	55	47	52
Unknown	1	2	1	2
Appetite:				
Good	54	61	53	57
Fair	32	32	35	34
Poor	13	7	12	9
Unknown	1	1	1	0

Between baseline and follow-up, these patterns remained very similar. Both participants and comparison group members, overall, continued to report high levels of well-being. Chapter 6 explores similarities and differences in these patterns for subgroups of participants and comparison group members and controlling for such factors as receipt of services by the comparison group from non-HOPE IV sources.

HOPE IV Participants described themselves as generally happy, peaceful and calm, and many said they were full of life most or all of the time. However, only a few participants reported having lots of energy, and many felt worn out or tired most or all the time. Table 4-9 provides several measures of vitality and mental health using positive and negative indicators about HOPE IV participant feelings. Thirty-seven percent of participants said they felt full of life most or all the time during the past 30 days, and about 60 percent said they were a happy person or felt calm or peaceful most or all of the time during that period. Few of the HOPE IV participants (14 percent) felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer them up, and a similar number (13 percent) felt downhearted or low most of the time. Over one quarter of the HOPE IV participants, however, stated they had been a nervous person during the past month, and only 21 percent said they had a lot of energy. For most of these measures, the baseline comparison group responses were nearly the same.

Table 4-9.								
Measures of Vitality and Mental Health								
	Percent responding							
	"all or most of the time"							
	Participant Comparison Grou							
	Baseline	Follow-Up	Baseline	Follow-Up				
During the past 30 day	(n=543)	(n=286)	(n=523)	(n=324)				
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)				
Vitality								
Did you feel full of life?	37	27	33	28				
Did you have a lot of energy?	21	15	21	18				
Did you feel worn out?	32	43	34	44				
Did you feel tired?	38	46	40	48				
Mental Health								
Have you felt calm and peaceful?	57	55	55	57				
Have you been a happy person?	60	61	62	59				
Have you been a very nervous								
person?	26	20	22	26				
Have you felt so down in the								
dumps that nothing could cheer								
you up?	14	13	12	13				
Have you felt downhearted or								
low?	13	13	13	16				

Between baseline and follow-up, both HOPE IV participants and comparison group members reported similar, but often relatively small, changes in well-being. For example, those who reported feeling full of life dropped from 37 percent to 27 percent for participants and from 33 percent to 28 percent for the comparison group. While simple frequencies show little change over time and few differences between the participants and comparison group members, the analysis in Chapter 6 shows that there is a significant positive correlation between HOPE IV participation and receipt of services and between receipt of services and positive responses to these measures of well-being.

Cognitive functioning is an important determinant of risk for institutionalization and ability to function independently in a community-based, longterm care program such as HOPE IV. Generally, the

Table 4-10. Cognitive Status							
	Participant Comparison Group						
Number of	Baseline	Follow-Up	Baseline	Follow-Up			
incorrect	(n=439)	(n=227)	(n=415)	(n=230)			
responses	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)			
None	63	75	66	72			
One	30	19	23	24			
Two	6	4	9	4			
Three	1	1	1	0			

participants and comparison group members had very few incorrect responses to questions that served as indicators of mental status. Table 4-10 presents the rates of incorrect responses to six questions, as a measure of cognitive status: the current year, season, date, day of the week, state of residence, and county of residence. At baseline, 63 percent of the HOPE IV participants and 66 percent of the comparison group members answered all items correctly, while 30 percent of participants and 23 percent of the comparison group made one incorrect response, virtually all of which was reporting the incorrect date. The remaining seven percent of participants and 10 percent of the comparison group had either two or three incorrect responses.

Excluded from this analysis were all proxy responses for participants and comparison group members. While this might have eliminated persons with the most severe cognitive impairment, virtually all proxy cases were a function of preference by the participant rather than a decision by the interviewer due to inability of the person to respond.

Between baseline and follow-up the number of incorrect responses fell; however, this was not a function of extremely high exit rates among participants and comparison group members with low cognitive status scored at baseline. Cognitive status patterns for those who remained and those who left were similar, for both the participant and comparison group.

Measures of mental health and cognitive status are extremely important additions to recent research practices but often difficult to interpret, and researchers are only beginning to develop methods for scoring and aggregating responses to such questions to ascertain overall well-being.²⁵ The major application of these measures occurs in Chapter 6 when scoring and analyzing data from the baseline and follow-up interviews to determine changes over time, between the participants and comparison group members, and the relationship between positive scores and participation in HOPE IV.

²⁵ Ware, J.E., SF-36 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales: A User's Manual, The Health Institute, New England Medical Center, Boston, 1994.

5.0 INFORMAL ASSISTANCE, SOCIAL SUPPORT AND SERVICE UTILIZATION

5.1 The Importance of Informal Assistance and Social Support

Informal assistance, social support and sociability are important aspects of an older person's quality of life that also tend to correlate with measures of mental health and life satisfaction. In addition, the quality and level of social support received, independent of other factors, can affect a frail elderly person's risk of institutionalization. Consequently, the HOPE IV participants', comparison group members', and CHSP participants' informal social interactions are important to a comparison of both programs for several related reasons: (1) the amount and quality of informal assistance and support received may independently affect the risk of institutionalization for all three groups; (2) informal social support may enhance life satisfaction, itself an outcome variable in the conceptual model guiding the HOPE IV evaluation's quasi-experimental design; and (3) prior research has examined whether and how receipt of formal services influences the amount and type of informal assistance that elderly persons receive and how this, in turn, affects outcomes such as institutionalization.

5.1.1 Frequency and Nature of In-Person Social Contacts

To ascertain the level and kinds of social support they were receiving, HOPE IV participants and comparison group members as well as CHSP participants were asked about the frequency and patterns of their informal social contacts with relatives, friends and neighbors. Although the data for CHSP participants are not as comprehensive as those for the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members, on certain points they are similar enough to enable making three-way comparisons. Follow-up data, however, are available only for the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members.

On the whole, both the frequency and pattern of social contacts reported at baseline and at follow-up are remarkably similar for the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members. Eightytwo percent of both groups reported seeing another person—whether a family member, friend, or neighbor—on a regular basis at least once a month. Eighteen percent said they saw no one monthly except for service personnel or others living in their households. The percentages for both groups were identical at follow-up.

The average frequency of social contacts was slightly higher for comparison group members than for HOPE IV participants at baseline. The comparison group reported somewhat more frequent contact with children (an average of 9.5 versus 7.8 times per month) and other relatives (an average of 5.1 versus 3.3 times per month). However, both groups saw someone, on average, almost every day in a month—22 days for HOPE IV participants and 25 days for the comparison group. At follow-up, while comparison group members still reported somewhat more frequent contact with children and other relatives (an average of 10.0 as compared to 8.9 times per month for children and 4.4 versus 3.0 contacts per month for other relatives), HOPE IV participants reported more contact with friends and neighbors than did comparison group members (11.5 as against 9.1 times per month). Moreover, at follow-up, overall average frequency of social contact was the same for both groups—about 24 times per month.

In sum, the overall frequency of in-person contact stayed more or less the same for the comparison group between baseline and follow-up, but increased somewhat for HOPE IV participants. Greater frequency of contact with friends and neighbors appears to account for much of this increase. This finding is especially interesting given that so many HOPE IV participants had to relocate to qualify for the Program, which one might speculate would have been disruptive of social ties. By contrast, most comparison group members were long-term residents of Section 8 housing, who would presumably have had ample time to develop a network of social support. Thus, somewhat surprisingly, in some cases participating in HOPE IV appears to have spurred greater sociability with friends and neighbors.,

As presented in Table 5-1, at baseline, most HOPE IV respondents and comparison group members showed a bimodal pattern of seeing a child either less than once a month or several times a week or more. Forty-seven percent of HOPE IV and 51 percent of comparison group respondents saw a child less than once a month. At the other end of the spectrum, 26 percent of HOPE IV participants saw a child more than three times a week and 12 percent saw a child every day. The same figures for the comparison group were 17 percent, and 18 percent, respectively. Thus, a slightly higher percentage of comparison group members than HOPE IV participants saw a child every day, which might reflect that HOPE IV was targeted to frail elderly with more limited support available from family members or others living in close proximity.

	Mont	thly Frequ	ency of Dif	Table ferent Ty		-Person S	ocial Conta	cts for		
							line and Fo			
	Participant (n=541)			Comparison Group (n=523)				CHSP Participants (n=564, 542)		
Baseline		Other	Friend or			Other	Friend or	Anyone (%)	Family* (%)	Friends (%)
Times per month regularly sees	Child (%)	relative (%)	neighbor (%)	Anyone (%)	Child (%)	relative (%)	neighbor (%)			
Less than once (0-<1)	47	74	57	21	51	70	55	20	25	23
A few times (1-3)	4	5	3	3	4	4	3	3	17	12
Once or twice a week (4-7)	12	7	4	9	10	7	6	8	30	12
Several times a week (8-27)	26	10	14	31	17	10	15	24	22	19
Every day (28+)	12	4	22	37	18	9	22	45	6	35
Follow-Up	Participant (n=286)				Comparison Group (n=523)					
Less than once (0-<1)	43	76	56	19	45	70	61	19		
A few times (1-3)	6	6	3	3	4	4	2	3		
Once or twice a week (4-7)	15	6	5	10	13	7	4	9		
Several times a week (8-27)	19	7	13	29	19	9	14	26		
Every day (28+)	17	6	24	39	20	10	19	43		

*Includes all family members, not just children.

However, as shown in Table 5-1, the pattern of contact with family for CHSP participants at baseline was not similarly bimodal; the distribution of in-person contact with family members is much more even across the different categories. Only about half as many (25 percent) CHSP participants as HOPE IV participants and comparison group members reported seeing a family member (a child or any other family member) once a month or less. At the same time, considerably fewer CHSP participants (6 percent) reported daily contact with family members.

Looking at these results at just at one point in time and comparing only the HOPE IV and CHSP participants, one might be tempted to argue that the HOPE IV participants' greater frequency of in-person contact with family members at baseline reflected their newness in the Program, and would level off after a period of transition. However, the same basic bimodal pattern of contact with children also prevailed for both the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members at follow-up. Furthermore, the frequency of daily contact with children increased for both groups between baseline and follow-up, with a greater increase for the HOPE IV participants (from 12 percent to 17 percent) than for comparison group members (from 18 percent to 20 percent). *Consequently, these data do not support the idea that contact with children was abnormally high during the period of* entry *into the HOPE IV Program. If anything, the opposite is true*: at follow-up, 95 percent of participants' contacts with children had either stayed the same or increased since entering HOPE IV.

For HOPE IV participants and comparison group members, both at baseline and followup, the distribution of in-person contact with friends and neighbors was even more bimodal than contact with children. At baseline, 57 percent of HOPE IV and 55 percent of comparison group respondents did not see a friend or neighbor at least once a month, while 22 percent of both groups did so every day. At follow-up, 56 percent of participants and 61 percent of comparison group members indicated seeing a friend or neighbor less than once a month, while 24 percent of HOPE IV participants and 19 percent of comparison group members reported daily contact with a friend or neighbor.

The pattern of in-person contact with friends and neighbors was again quite different for CHSP participants at baseline: CHSP participants had more frequent contact with neighbors than either HOPE IV participants or comparison group members. About half as many CHSP participants as HOPE IV participants and comparison group members reported seeing a friend or neighbor less than once a month, and a considerably higher percentage (35 percent, as compared with 22 percent of both HOPE IV groups) indicated daily contact. Although follow-up data are lacking, there is no reason to think that contact with friends and neighbors would have declined during this period. The CHSP participants' greater social involvement with friends and neighbors can probably be attributed to their living in a congregate setting that provides a large pool of other older persons with whom to socialize, and is set up to encourage interaction among residents.

Frequency of contact is only one ingredient of social support; it is also important to know how the time together is spent. Some researchers have suggested that one beneficial outcome of an elderly parent's receipt of formal in-home help with household and personal care activities is that it frees children to spend more "quality time" with their parents. Time that might previously have been occupied running errands for their parents or taking care of household chores can now be spent sitting and talking. This provides benefits to the elderly parent by enriching the quality of their visits with their children, and also lessens the children's caregiver burden.

HOPE IV participants were therefore also queried both at baseline and follow-up about what they usually do when their children, other relatives, and neighbors come to visit. Their answers covered a broad span of activities, from helping with housework to running errands, eating out or attending social functions together. While there does seem to be a division of activities according to the type of visitor, at both baseline and follow-up, the most frequently named activity by far across all categories of visitors was spending time informally talking and visiting with the participant.

5.1.2 Telephone Contact

In an increasingly mobile society, when elderly persons may live far from family and friends, keeping in touch by telephone is another important form and source of social contact.

As with in-person social contacts, the frequency of telephone contact with relatives and friends was very similar for HOPE IV participants and comparison group respondents, both at baseline and follow-up. At both points in time, about three quarters of both groups reported speaking to someone on the phone on a regular basis, while roughly one-quarter said they did not. At baseline, 37 percent of participants and 39 percent of comparison group members, and at follow-up, 30 percent and 36 percent, respectively, indicated they spoke with someone on the phone every day.

5-5

Overall, at baseline, HOPE IV participants had an average of 20.1 monthly phone contacts and comparison group members an average of 23.2 such contacts. At follow-up, the average number of such contacts declined slightly for both groups, to 18.8 for participants and 21 for comparison group members.

As with in-person contacts, the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members were characterized by a bimodal pattern of either very infrequent or quite frequent telephone contacts with children at both baseline and follow-up. As shown in Table 5-2, at baseline, at one end of the spectrum, a little over half of both groups reported less than monthly phone contact with their children. At the other end of the spectrum, a total of 38 percent of HOPE IV participants and 36 percent of comparison group members reported phone contact with children several times a week or more. Between baseline and follow-up, the pattern shifted slightly. At follow-up, an even higher percentage (41 percent) of both groups reported contact of several times a week or more, but somewhat fewer HOPE IV participants (15 percent as compared to 22 percent at baseline) reported having daily phone contact with a child.

Again, at baseline, the pattern was very different for CHSP participants, who had much more frequent telephone contact with family members. Two-thirds of CHSP participants--nearly twice as many as HOPE IV participants and comparison group members -- indicated having phone contact with family members of several times a week or more. Thirty-nine percent (as compared to 22 percent, and 20 percent, respectively) indicated they spoke with a family member on a daily basis, another 27 percent (as compared to 16 percent of both HOPE IV groups) said they talked on the phone with a family member several times a week. At the other end of the spectrum, more than half of both HOPE IV groups, but only about nine percent of CHSP respondents, reported less than monthly phone contact with a family member. For CHSP participants, more frequent telephone contact may have served to substitute or compensate for less frequent in-person social contact with family.

As seen in Table 5-2, phone contact with other relatives as well as with friends and neighbors was less frequent than with children for both HOPE IV groups and declined slightly between baseline and follow-up. CHSP participants had much more frequent telephone contact with friends and neighbors than the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members.

				Tabl	e 5-2.						
			Freque	ency of Te	lephone	Contacts	_				
	Participant				Comparison Group				CHSP Participants		
	(<i>n</i> =497)				<u>(n</u> =466)				(n=560, 541)		
Baseline			Friend				Friend				
		Other	or			Other	or				
Times per month	Child	relative	neighbor	Anyone	Child	relative	neighbor	Anyone	Family*	Friends	
regularly speaks to	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	_(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Less than once (0-<1)	54	74	71	30	56	70	67	29	9	16	
A few times (1-3)	2	4	2	3	3	3	2	2	9	8	
Once or twice a week (4-7)	7	7	4	8	6	6	4	8	16	14	
Several times a week (8-27)	16	9	8	23	16	10	12	22	27	28	
Every day (28+)	22	7	14	37	20	10	15	39	39	34	
Follow-Up	Participant (n=260)				Comparison Group						
-					(n=282)						
Less than once (0-<1)	49	76	70	29	50	74	74	28			
A few times (1-3)	2	3	1	2	3	2	1	2			
Once or twice a week (4-7)	8	7	6	6	6	6	3	4			
Several times a week (8-27)	26	9	10	34	21	10	11	32			
Every day (28+)	15	5	13	30	20	8	11	36			

* Includes all family members, not just children

At baseline, over 60 percent of CHSP participants spoke on the phone with a friend or neighbor several times a week or more, with about one-third indicating daily phone contact. By contrast, only 22 percent of HOPE IV participants and 27 percent of comparison group members reported contact of several times a week or more. Nearly three-quarters of HOPE IV participants and comparison group members indicated not speaking with a friend or neighbor on the phone at least once a month, while the same was true for less than one-quarter of CHSP participants. In this case, phone contacts were not substituting for in -person contacts, because CHSP participants also had more frequent in-person social contact with friends and neighbors than either of the HOPE IV groups. *The CHSP participants' greater frequency of all types of contact with friends and neighbors may reflect a general pattern of more intense socialization that results from living in a congregate setting.*

5.1.3 Informal Contacts: A Summary

What is most striking about these findings is, first, the strong similarity between the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members, and the contrast between them and the CHSP participants, in patterns of in-person and telephone contact. These differences are probably at least partly related to differences between the scattered site and congregate living arrangements.

Second, these data suggest relatively few of any of the three groups of frail elderly individuals might have been socially isolated.

Third, from a programmatic and policy perspective, it is clear that participation in the HOPE IV Program did not have a negative effect on the frequency of the HOPE IV participants' social contacts.

The implications of these findings are discussed further in Chapter 6.

5.1.4 Social Satisfaction and Loneliness

Because of varying perceptions of what constitutes a satisfactory level of social contact, different individuals may express rather different degrees of satisfaction with the same frequency of visits and telephone calls. Some elderly respondents may feel quite satisfied with seeing a child once or twice a month, while others may be unhappy with anything less than daily visits. To gauge this more subjective aspect of social support and sociability, HOPE IV participants and comparison group respondents were asked about the quality of their social ties and how they assessed their then current level of social
activity. Respondents in all three groups were also asked about how often they experienced feelings of loneliness and whether they had at least one other person in whom they could confide.

Overall, both at baseline and at follow-up, HOPE IV participants and comparison group respondents enjoyed fairly full social lives, with which most were reasonably satisfied. At baseline, about half of both HOPE IV participants and comparison group members said they saw their relatives and friends about as often as they wanted, and another third of both groups was only somewhat unhappy about how little they saw their relatives and friends. Only about ten percent of both groups said they were very unhappy with the frequency of their social contacts. At follow-up, a slightly lower percentage of both groups indicated seeing their friends and relatives as often as they wanted, while a slightly higher percentage said they were somewhat unhappy about how little they saw their relatives and friends. It is interesting that satisfaction with their level of social contact declined slightly at the same time that their actual level of social activity increased a bit.

Along a slightly different dimension, HOPE IV and comparison group respondents as well as CHSP participants reported low levels of loneliness, and almost all in all three groups had at least one confidante. In fact, there are striking similarities across the three groups in these respects.

At baseline, 20 percent of HOPE IV respondents, 17 percent of comparison group members, and 21 percent of CHSP participants said they felt lonely quite often; 41 percent, 42 percent, and 43 percent, respectively, said they felt this way sometimes; and, 38 percent, 40 percent, and 36 percent, respectively, indicated they almost never felt lonely. About 87 percent of HOPE IV respondents, 91 percent of comparison group members, and 89 percent of CHSP participants said they had someone whom they trusted and in whom they could confide.

At follow-up, both HOPE IV groups reported feeling somewhat less lonely overall. The percentage of those reporting frequent feelings of loneliness declined slightly, while the percentage saying they felt lonely sometimes increased slightly, and the percentage of those saying they almost never felt lonely stayed about the same. The percentage of HOPE IV participants who had a confidante rose slightly (to 92 %) while remaining more or less the same (90 %) for comparison group respondents.

5.2 Service Utilization

5.2.1 Receipt of Services

A higher percentage of CHSP participants than HOPE IV participants had received comparable formal services prior to entering their respective Programs. At baseline, about 29 percent of CHSP participants receiving housekeeping from CHSP or other formal sources, 28 percent of those getting congregate meals, 28 percent of those getting emergency response services, 24 percent of those receiving transportation, 22 percent of those getting formal in-home health services, and 20 percent of those receiving health screening and health education services reported having gotten these services from formal sources prior to entering the CHSP. By contrast, only for formal housekeeping services was the percentage of HOPE IV participants (30 percent) who reported having received the service prior to program entry comparable to that for CHSP participants. These findings are not surprising given that CHSP participants were already living in congregate housing prior to entering the CHSP, which gave them some access to services. By contrast, many HOPE IV participants had to relocate to enter HOPE IV, and were selected into the Program partly on the basis of their demonstrated need for supportive services and distance from family members who might have been able to assist them.

Table 5-3. Supportive Services Received					
	Hope IV Participants		Hope IV Comparison Group		CHSP
	Baseline	Follow-up	Baseline	Follow-up	Participants
	(n=543)	(n=286)	(n=523)	(n=324)	(n=570**)
Services	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Housekeeping	80	84	49	51	83*
Transportation	46	50	32	24	46
Home-delivered meals	38	40	24	27	30
Congregate meals	13	10	10	7	73*
Personal care	25	33	26	31	
In-home health	29	34	29	36	29
Recreational	14	14	10	8	
Counseling	6	5	4	7	

* Indicates percent receiving formal or informal help in this area from any source.

** Estimate

Table 5-4 presents the percentage of HOPE IV participants, HOPE IV comparison group members, and CHSP participants who reported receiving different types of services.

The figures for CHSP are for baseline only and are not strictly comparable with those for HOPE IV for all categories of service. At baseline, similar percentages of HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported receiving housekeeping, transportation, and in-home health services. The only major difference in the percentages saying they got congregate meals is easily explainable by the CHSP program requirement to provide such meals.

Thus, the core services received are much the same across these two programs, with about fourfifths of both participant groups reporting they got housekeeping, slightly under one-half indicating receipt of transportation services, and just under one third saying they got in-home health services. While comparison group members clearly received fewer services overall, the differences between them and the HOPE IV and CHSP program participants are fairly considerable for some categories of services (housekeeping, transportation, home-delivered meals), but negligible for others (personal care, in-home health).

Table 5-4 also shows that service provision was stable over time for both HOPE IV participants and those comparison group members who were receiving services. The percentages of those receiving specific services did not change greatly between baseline and follow-up for either the HOPE IV participants or the comparison group.

5.2.2 Satisfaction with Services

The vast majority of HOPE IV participants, comparison group members, and CHSP participants were happy with the amounts and types of services they were receiving. As shown in Tables 5-5 and 5-6, both HOPE IV groups reported similar, extremely high levels of satisfaction with individual services both at baseline and at follow-up. Although slightly different, the figures for CHSP participants, as shown in Table 5-5, also indicate high levels of satisfaction with individual services.

HOPE IV participants and comparison group members were also asked if they needed more of any of their current services or felt they could use services they were not getting at the time of either survey. At baseline, 82 percent of HOPE IV participants and 77 percent of comparison group members responded that they did not need any more of their current services. Of those indicating they would have liked more of their current services, the greatest number of participants (44) and comparison group members (36) expressed a desire for more housekeeping. At follow-up, the percentage of those who felt well served by their current level of service rose to 89 percent among HOPE IV participants and to 81 percent among comparison group respondents. Of those few expressing a desire for more of their current services, most in both groups wanted more housekeeping

Table 5-4. Baseline: Average Monthly Frequency of Receipt and				
Satisfaction with Specific Services				
Hope IV Participants (n=543)	% Receiving	Average Frequency (days per month)	% Very Satisfied	
Transportation	46	5.9	66	
Home-delivered meals	38	21.1	69	
Meals at senior center	13	14.3	71	
Personal care services	25	12.7	88	
In-home health	29	7.2	85	
Housekeeping	80	8.0	79	
Counseling	6	3.9	63	
Recreational services	14	10.0	81	
HOPE IV Comparison Grou	p(n=523)			
Transportation	32	6.1	73	
Home-delivered meals	24	21.0	76	
Meals at senior center	10	11.5	80	
Personal care services	26	15.7	85	
In-home health	29	8.1	90	
Housekeeping	49	11.0	78	
Counseling	4	2.0	52	
Recreational services	10	10.0	79	
CHSP Participants (n=547)**	% satisfied			
Transportation	46	*	94	
Home-delivered meals	30	*	81	
Congregate Meals	73	*	81	
Personal care services		*	*	
In-home health	29	*	96	
Housekeeping	83	*	87	
Counseling		*	*	
Recreational		*	*	

* = Missing data

** = Percent indicating they were satisfied or very satisfied with service, whether received from a formal or informal source.

Table 5-5.					
HOPE IV Follow-Up: Average Monthly Frequency of Receipt,					
and Satisfaction with Specific Services					
Participants (n=286) Service	% Receiving	Average Frequency (days per month)	% Very Satisfied		
Transportation	50	4.5	72		
Home-delivered meals	40	22.7	67		
Meals at senior center	10	14.9	75		
Personal care services	33	14.1	88		
In-home health	37	8.2	90		
Housekeeping	84	8.8	86		
Counseling	5				
Recreational services	14	7.7	87		
Comparison Group (n=324)					
Transportation	24	5.4	71		
Home-delivered meals	27	21.8	78		
Meals at senior center	7	12.0	70		
Personal care services	31	17.0	89		
In-home health	35	9.6	86		
Housekeeping	51	12.7	84		
Counseling	7	3.0	68		
Recreational services	8	9.1	88		

Similarly, 75 percent of HOPE IV participants and 71 percent of comparison group respondents at baseline, and 78 percent of both groups at follow-up, reported they did not need any services other than those they were then getting. At follow-up, of the roughly 20 percent of both groups who did want additional services, transportation was the service most frequently named by the participants (12 mentions), while comparison group members indicated the strongest desire for housekeeping (27 mentions), followed by transportation (15 mentions) and home companion services (14 mentions).

Data for CHSP participants show a broadly similar pattern of overall satisfaction with services received. When asked about the specific services they received from both formal and informal sources, at baseline, the vast majority of CHSP participants (75 percent or more) indicated that these services adequately met their needs. Considering the major CHSP service areas, 92 percent of those who got congregate meals, 91 percent of those who got transportation, and 81 percent of those receiving housekeeping said they got enough of these services to meet their needs.

Table 5-7 presents the one service HOPE IV participants and comparison group members considered most important in allowing them to continue to live in their own homes. At baseline, housekeeping headed the participants' list, noted as most important by 40 percent of those who responded to the question, followed by rental assistance (24 percent), home health aide services (14 percent), and Meals on Wheels (10 percent) — all core in-home services designed to maximize the participants' ability to remain independent. At follow-up, housekeeping and rental assistance still headed the list, but in reverse order. By contrast, those in the comparison group who answered this question responded that housekeeping and home health aide services were most important to maintaining their independence. Rental assistance ranked third both times.

Table 5-6. Service Seen as Most Helpful for Maintaining Independence for Hope IV Participants and Comparison Group					
Participant Comparison Group					
	Baseline			Follow-Up	
	(percent)	(percent)	(percent)	(percent)	
	(n=521)	(n=266)	(n=445)	(n=282)	
Service	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Housekeeping	40	22	28	24	
Rental assistance	24	36	18	22	
Home health aide	14	10	25	29	
Meals on wheels/meals program	10	4	7	6	
All help equally	5	14	6	8	
Miscellaneous others					
(e.g., transportation, food stamps)	7	4	16	11	

5.2.3 Services: A Summary

The full range of services offered to HOPE IV and CHSP participants varied across projects, as did service delivery arrangements. However, the highest percentages of HOPE IV and CHSP participants received a similar core package of supportive services that included (roughly in this order) housekeeping, transportation, and meals. Many fewer comparison group members got these services. However, the percentages receiving personal care and in-home health services (a little more than one-quarter) were about the same for HOPE IV, CHSP and the comparison group.

Most participants in both programs were very satisfied with the types and amounts of services they received. Interestingly, however, comparison group members, many fewer of whom got supportive services as well as rental assistance, were also highly satisfied.

Both at baseline and follow-up, HOPE IV participants considered rental assistance and housekeeping the two services most important in allowing them to continue to live in their own homes.

The implications of these findings are further discussed in Chapter 6.



6. HOPE IV AND CHSP BENEFITS AND OUTCOMES

6.1 Outcome Measures

This chapter presents the benefits and outcomes of the HOPE IV and CHSP programs, using a combination of the measures presented thus far. The simple frequencies and percentages in the previous chapters, while quite informative from a descriptive perspective, may not control for all the relevant factors influencing outcomes. Indeed, we found that the similarities between the participants and the comparison group baseline and follow-up survey results actually masked some of the real impacts the multivariate analysis revealed.

The following section first presents the results of the HOPE IV and CHSP analyses separately, followed by a summary comparing and contrasting the findings from the two studies.

6.2 HOPE IV Outcomes

The primary purpose of HOPE IV was to allow a frail elderly tenant population to participate in Section 8 scattered-site rental housing through the provision of case management and supportive services. PHA staff reported that prior to HOPE IV, the frail elderly often did not come into Section 8 but went, instead, to congregate housing or other programs specifically for the elderly. In addition, when exiting from Section 8 because of aging in place and frailty, they often left for nursing homes or other restrictive settings due to the absence of care to address their limitation in basic life activities.

6.2.1 Reasons for Leaving HOPE IV

A major research question HUD wanted this evaluation to answer was the extent to which participation in HOPE IV allowed frail elderly tenants to participate in Section 8 housing and avoid unnecessary or inappropriate nursing home placement. To answer this question, the evaluation collected detailed information on the HOPE IV participants and a frail elderly Section 8 comparison group who were not in HOPE IV but were otherwise similar in terms of functional status, age, and gender. From both groups, we identified who remained in, or exited from, their respective programs over a two-year period, and why, including mortality, nursing home placement, and moving to other locations. Table 6-1 shows the retention and exit patterns for the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members, according to these categories.

6-1

Table 6-1.Program Status After Two Years				
Status	Participants (n=543) (%)	Comparison Group (n=523) (%)		
Remained in HOPE IV	53	N/A		
Left HOPE IV, remained in Section 8	7	N/A		
Total remaining in Section 8	60	62		
Left HOPE IV/Section 8	40	38		
Died	15	13		
Nursing home	9	8		
Moved to other locations	9	9		
Other/Unknown	7	8		

There was no statistically significant difference between participants and comparison group members in terms of the five final status categories of: remaining in the program; dying, transferring to a nursing home or another care facility; moving elsewhere; or other (p = 0.79, Chi-square = 1.72, df=4). This finding is consistent with the assumptions in the research design and the results of prior studies that show that the impact of similar programs influences the quality of life and care, rather than changing such overt outcomes as mortality, institutionalization, or otherwise having to leave one's home due to frailty.

Over the two-year period, 40 percent of the participants left the HOPE IV program, including Section 8. This consisted of 15 percent who died, nine percent who went into a nursing or related care home, nine percent who moved to another location, and seven percent who left HOPE IV and Section 8 for other or unspecified reasons. Sixty percent of the participants remained in assisted housing, including seven percent who left HOPE IV but retained their Section 8 rental assistance.

Over the same two-year period, 38 percent of the frail elderly comparison group left Section 8, including 13 percent who died, eight percent who went into a nursing or related care home, nine percent who moved to another location, and eight percent who left for other or unspecified reasons. These exit patterns were nearly identical between the HOPE IV participants and comparison group members.

In an attempt to better understand what differentiates persons (participants and comparison group members) who remained in their respective programs versus those who left, we estimated the effects of several factors on the probability of retention versus exit. Using stepwise logistic regression, we examined how the probability of remaining in HOPE IV and Section 8 was affected by participating in HOPE, the number of services persons received, age cohort (62-74, 75-84, 85+), length of time in current residence (less than one year, one to four years, five or more years), indexes of frailty (ADL and IADL limitations), and an index for feeling safe (feeling safe and secure in one's neighborhood most of the time, some of the time, rarely, or never).

Only being between ages 75 and 84 and the number of IADL limitations were included by the stepwise inclusion procedure indicating that none of the other variables had a statistically significant effect on remaining in HOPE IV or Section 8. Being between ages 75 and 84 and each additional IADL reduced the probability of remaining in HOPE IV and Section 8, respectively, by about 37 percent (odds ratio = 0.63 Wald Chi-Square=9.01, P < 0.001) and 14 percent (odds ratio = 0.84, Wald Chi-Square=10.02, P < 0.001). The above analysis included HOPE IV participants who left the Program but remained in Section 8. The rationale for including this latter group is that these persons did not actually exit, given the primary purpose of HOPE IV to sustain the frail elderly in Section 8 private market, scattered-site housing.

We also used stepwise logistic regression analysis to examine the probability (among those still alive) of moving to a nursing or care facility before the time of the follow-up interview as a function of participating in HOPE IV, the number of services received, age cohort, length of time in current residence, indexes of frailty, and an index for feeling safe. The final model included the variables for the number of services, the indicator variable for being over age 84, under one year residence, and the index for feeling safe. We also found that the number of services received, being over age 84, under one year of residence at the same location, and not feeling safe all increased the probability of moving to a nursing or related care facility.

These results may appear paradoxical, but actually are consistent with prior research, especially concerning the high correlation between receipt of services and exiting to a nursing home. The most likely explanation for this pattern is that frail, older clients receive more services than others do, and these clients tend to exit to nursing homes regardless of the services they receive.

We used a similar approach to examine the probability of death before the time of the follow-up interview among those who had not moved to a nursing home or care facility. Not surprisingly, this analysis showed that only being 85 or older increased the odds of death. Again, this confirmed the results of prior research that the value of a community-based, long-term care program for the frail elderly

lies in enhancing the quality of life and care, rather than reducing the rates of nursing home placement or mortality.

6.2.2 Changes in Quality of Life

Beyond these issues of remaining in Section 8 and avoiding nursing home placement, the evaluation studied the impact of HOPE IV on many other domains of well-being.

We found that the quality of life and care was significantly higher for HOPE IV participants than comparison group members for many domains of well-being. Specifically, participants in the HOPE IV program received a significantly higher level of supportive services than the comparison group, and this disparity in access to care remained over time. For example, at baseline, over one-quarter (26 percent) of the comparison group reported receiving no services at all, despite levels of frailty that were similar to those of participants, and this figure remained at a relatively high level (32 percent) between baseline and follow-up (the two percentages are not statistically different). The corresponding figures for Hope IV participants receiving no services were three percent, and seven percent, respectively, at baseline and follow-up. These differences remained significant when controlling for differences in ADL limitation and other factors influencing need for services.

Most important, receipt of services had a significant association with a range of positive outcomes, across multiple domains of functioning. For example, service recipients scored significantly higher in four major mental health dimensions (anxiety, depression, loss of behavioral/emotional control, and psychological well-being), social functioning (quantity and quality of social activities), vitality (energy level and fatigue), and other measure of social well-being.²⁶ The key predictor for the quality of life measures is the *Number of services*. A key finding is that, other things being equal, participants received significantly more services than the comparison group members. This clearly documents the positive impact of the HOPE IV program.

In addition to showing this overall beneficial impact of HOPE IV on the receipt of services, we found that the distribution of these services varied considerably within the participant and comparison groups. For example, while virtually all of the participants (93 percent) reported receiving at least one service, almost one-third of the comparison group (32 percent) reported receiving no services at all at the

²⁶ Ware, J.E., SF-36 Health Survey, Manual and Interpretation Guide. The Health Institute, New England Medical Center, Boston, MA, 1993.

time of the follow-up survey, despite similar levels of frailty between the two groups. The analysis also confirms our assumptions that that the number of ADL and IADL limitations are predictive of need for care, for these are significantly and positively correlated with the number of services the participants and comparison group members receive. Feeling safe and receiving more services, at baseline, were associated with increased satisfaction with neighborhood.

Taken together, these models suggest that, to the extent that HOPE IV participants experienced increased satisfaction with their neighborhood, they did so because, at a given level of service need—as this is determined by the number of ADL limitations—participants received a greater number of services than comparison group members. For those still in their programs at follow-up, the Number of Services was always associated with improved outcomes, and the parameter measuring this effect was statistically significant for Mental Health, and Health—that is in three out of seven models (including Satisfaction with Neighborhood). This means that we cannot measure the impact of HOPE IV by direct association with the outcome variables. We must, instead, measure impact indirectly through association with increases in levels of service.

One variable that was also highly correlated with these positive outcomes was having a case manager who helped identify and arrange for the delivery of services the person needed. All HOPE IV participants had a case manager (Service Coordinator) as part of the program. However, there also was an extremely high correlation between having a case manager and the number of services the comparison group received. This relationship between having a case manager and the number of services the comparison group members receive is, itself, an extremely important finding. One assumption underlying the design of HOPE IV is that the combination of case management and services, rather than one or the other, constitutes the most effective approach to addressing the needs of frail, elderly tenant population. It appears reasonable to interpret the significant beneficial relationship between receipt of services and positive outcome measures for both HOPE IV participants and comparison group members, as a benefit due to receipt of case management.

6.3 CHSP Outcomes

Analyses of CHSP continuation or discontinuation were conducted using data for all elderly CHSP participants interviewed in Fall 1994. Twenty four months later, in Fall 1996, Service Coordinators at all sites completed a roster that provided the following for each participant as of 24 months after the baseline:

• Whether or not they were still participating in CHSP at the 24-month point; and

- If they were no longer participating in CHSP and the next location they had gone to after being in the program. The categories of post-CHSP locations were as follows:
 - Still in the development, but no longer participating in CHSP (dropped out);
 - Moved—either living in another development or living with family;
 - Moved to a more restrictive living environment—such as a group home, nursing home, or assisted living facility; or
 - Died.

These data were used to address the questions about CHSP's effect on residents' continued ability to live independently and the factors that affect decisions to stay in the program among those who have a choice. The analyses were done using cross-tabulations, estimation of models of program discontinuation, and comparisons with other data to help understand how the experience and outcomes for CHSP participants compare with those of other older Americans.

6.3.1 CHSP Continuation and Discontinuation

Analyses of data on CHSP continuation and discontinuation address several issues: Who left CHSP, and why? Did CHSP help frail elderly residents continue to stay in their homes? What factors led participants to choose to drop out of the program, while continuing to live in the congregate housing development?

Overall, 51 percent of the original CHSP participants were still participating in the program 24 months after the baseline interview. Another 10 percent dropped out of CHSP's services component but remained living in the HUD-subsidized building, and 11 percents had died. This pattern is almost identical to HOPE IV. However, 22 percent had moved to a group home, nursing home, or other higher level of care, a figure considerably higher than for HOPE IV. A few (three percent) had moved to another development or to live with family. As would be expected, more of the very old (85 or older) had died (15 percent) or moved to a more restrictive living environment (35 percent), compared with younger participants.

Those with the highest level of ADL impairments (six or more ADL limitations) were most likely to die (13 percent) or move to a higher level of care (30 percent). However, it is important to note that, even among the least-impaired participants (two or fewer ADL limitations), a number had died (eight percent) or moved to a higher level of care (16 percent). This finding supports the view that CHSP served residents with significant levels of ADL impairment.

Focusing on the numbers that dropped out of CHSP (those who stayed in the development, but did not continue to receive services), there were more drop-outs among the younger participants (21 percent of participants age 62-74 had dropped out, compared with eight percent of those 75-84, and six percent of those 85 or older). Additionally, residents who were less satisfied with CHSP services were more likely than others to drop out, as would be expected. Among those who were very satisfied with CHSP, nine percent dropped out, compared with 14 percent among those who were somewhat satisfied, and 21 percent among those who were neutral or dissatisfied.

Differences in Exit Patterns by Levels of ADL Limitations

Additional descriptive analyses compared the percentage who died or moved to a higher level of care by whether or not they had impairments in specific ADLs at the baseline. These data give an indication of what ADLs areas are indicative of high risk—as measured either by the absolute level (the percentage who die or move to higher level care) or by the differential rate (the difference in the percentage of those with impairments who die or go into higher care, compared with the those who do not have impairments). Data presented in Table 6-2 show that several ADL impairments are indicative of high risk by both of these measures. The table lists the top four ADL impairments, as measured by the percentage of those impaired who died or moved to more restrictive care (more than 45 percent for each). In addition to percentages who had these adverse outcomes, the table shows how much higher the percentage for the impaired is than the corresponding percentage for those who did not report impairment.

Table 6.2. CHSP ADL Impairment Areas Associated with Dying or Moving to Higher Level of Care				
Percent who died or moved to a higher level of careDifference between impaired and not impairedADL impairment areas(%)(%)				
Feeding self	51.0	17.2		
Personal grooming	47.7	16.7		
Using telephone	46.8	16.1		
Managing money	46.0	19.1		

Residents who could not feed themselves had a high likelihood of dying or moving to a nursing home or other higher level of care (51 percent), compared with those who did not have difficulty with

self-feeding (the differential is 17 percentage points). Having been impaired in ability to do personal grooming, use the telephone, or manage money are also indicative of risks for adverse outcomes.

Residents had to have been able to perform in the different functional areas, at least at a minimal level, to have participated in CHSP. The regulations specified that residents must have been able to feed themselves or have had help from a spouse, relative, or attendant provided by the individual or family that allowed them to do so; similarly, the regulations required that people be able to take care of personal appearance (although they may need help washing their hair). The fact that program participants who had limitations in these areas of personal care were at high risk for moving to a higher level of care is consistent both with program regulations and with research showing that high levels of basic personal care needs are related to nursing home placement. Although the other two risk factors—difficulty managing money and using the telephone—are classified as impairments in instrumental activities of daily living, they are indicators of cognitive impairment which, in turn, is a major risk factor for institutional placement. Overall, then, these data show the importance of these ADLs as risk indicators.

The descriptive data show that several factors — such as age and number of ADL limitations -are related to CHSP participants' dying or going to a higher level of care, and satisfaction is related to dropping out. However, these factors tend to be interrelated — for instance, older residents also had higher levels of ADL impairments. This leads to the question: When all the factors are taken into account, which ones are still important in determining outcomes for CHSP participants?

This question was addressed by modeling the program outcomes. Logistic regression models were estimated to predict: 1) Which residents died or moved to a higher level of care? and 2) of those who had the choice of remaining or leaving the program (those who do not die or have to move to a higher level of care), what factors affected the choice to stay in the program, rather than dropping out of $it?^{27}$

A series of models were run. These models included: age; number of ADL limitations; gender; services;²⁸ level of fees paid by resident; resident's satisfaction with CHSP; and degree of social integration or the availability of family as an alternative source of assistance (how often resident saw family).

²⁷ Logistic regression models are appropriate for analyzing categorical outcomes. In the analyses reported here, the outcomes were dichotomous. The program continuation variable has 5 outcomes: staying in CHSP, dropping out, moving to another location, moving to a higher level of care (group home, hospital, assisted living, nursing home), or dying. Although it would be possible to include multiple outcomes in the model by using multinomial logistic regression, the results of such models are difficult to interpret and have less clear policy relevance than the simpler models. For the models, dying or moving to a higher level of care were combined because they tend to be predicted by the same individual, non-programmatic factors. The decision to remain in CHSP is modeled separately for residents who do not die or move to a higher level of care. These models directly address the question of what program and individual factors are related to the decision to remain in the program. The variables in the models were collected at the baseline survey, both because these directly relate to the outcomes and because these measures are available for all residents, including ones who died or left the program before later data collection rounds. For discussion of the models, a .05 probability of significance was used.

²⁸ Including all services in the model would make it unstable and difficult to interpret. Because of this, a decision was made to include services that were important in themselves and represent the range of services residents need and receive from CHSP. The services included in the model were congregate meals, housekeeping, transportation, and personal grooming.

Mortality

Several demographic variables predict mortality or moves to a higher level of care: older age; higher number of ADL impairments; and gender (higher mortality among men than women). Once age and level of ADL impairments were controlled in the model, services received, fees, service satisfaction, and level of contact with family are not related to mortality or moving to a higher level of care.

Program continuation

For those who could choose, several factors have a significant effect on whether or not residents remained in CHSP. Older participants were more likely to stay in the program, but the number of ADL limitations does not have an independent effect after controlling for age. In addition, residents who had less frequent interaction with family were more likely to remain in CHSP. There also is a clear program effect: residents who were satisfied with CHSP and said they got services often enough from the program were more likely to stay in the program.²⁹

Several findings are not surprising: for instance, that older and frailer residents were more likely than younger, less frail ones to die or move to a nursing home or other more restrictive living environment. It is interesting to note, however, that the model results show that both age and ADL levels have significant independent effects. Higher mortality among men than women is consistent with known mortality patterns. Once these powerful factors are included in the model, services and service satisfaction have no independent effect on mortality or higher level care placements.

The findings on program continuation show other important effects. First, the fact that residents with lower levels of family contact were more likely to stay in the program shows the special role CHSP potentially played for those who did not have family assistance and supports the conclusion that CHSP does not displace family assistance. Second, specific services received from CHSP did not affect continuation, but satisfaction with the program as indicated by — both residents being satisfied with CHSP and their saying they got services often enough — had a significant positive effect.

This latter finding shows the importance of satisfaction with the program for people's decisions to stay in CHSP. Recalling that the large majority of residents expressed satisfaction, these findings support the conclusion that CHSP did a good job of satisfying residents and maintaining their participation through providing valued services.

²⁹ There is not a separate effect of receiving specific individual services from CHSP on continued participation. The model results show a significant positive effect of receiving housekeeping or congregate meals from non-CHSP sources, but not other services. Only relatively few residents receive congregate meals or housekeeping from sources other than CHSP, however; this result may reflect some random variation in the model, or, because non-CHSP sources for these services are unusual, the receipt of services from these sources may indicate especially high levels of need.

Finally, the fact that, once other factors are controlled, older age has an effect on continuation, but ADL level does not, underlines the importance of CHSP for meeting the needs of increasingly old residents, who have fewer alternatives and probably have needs and frailties that are not fully captured by a measure such as ADL level.

Overall, the model results both confirm the findings and explain some apparent anomalies. The most important conclusions are that CHSP (1) did an effective job of satisfying elderly residents, and this contributed to relatively high levels of program continuation; (2) CHSP was particularly important for helping to maintain the oldest participants and those with fewer family resources.

6.3.2 Program Drop-Outs: Reasons for Leaving CHSP

Under CHSP regulations and practice, it was expected that residents whose condition improved would leave the program, permanently or until such time as they again needed assistance. In addition, the tabulations and model results show that residents who were satisfied with CHSP were more likely than dissatisfied ones to remain in CHSP, as would be expected. Another source of data that helps explain reasons for leaving CHSP comes from interviews with residents who left the program.

In the second round of data collection, in Fall 1995, residents who had been in CHSP at the baseline but had subsequently left the program and continued to live in the same development were asked their reasons for leaving the program. Overall, 29 percent of those who had left the program said they no longer needed CHSP services, and another six percent said they were no longer eligible. Another 23 percent said they were not satisfied, and 12 percent cited problems with the food or meals, such as: there was too much food or they gained too much weight from the meals, that going down for meals was too much for them, or that they did not like the food.³⁰ Only a small number (seven percent) said the reason they left the program was they could not afford CHSP services, although another six percent said they got a service more inexpensively from another source. In addition, 12 percent reported that they dropped out of CHSP because they got services from another source—this was particularly true among the oldest participants (29 percent of those 85 or older said they got services from another source), which suggests that needing a higher level of care was an important reason for changing to another service source than CHSP. The evaluations of both HOPE IV and CHSP programs found that participants often received services concurrently from other community home care programs, and after exiting continued to do so while remaining in their HUD-subsidized housing.

These findings help to explain the dynamics of CHSP participation, and the role of the Service Coordinator and PAC. They are consistent with the expectation that Service Coordinators and PACs should have moved residents out of CHSP when their functional level improved ("no longer needed

³⁰ Although meals are not mandatory and residents could choose to omit meals from their set of services, it may be that some residents identified CHSP as primarily a meals program, or that saying there were problems with the food is an "easy" reason to give for dropping out.

services") or shifted them to another source of care when their needs changed ("got service from other sources"), especially for the oldest participants. Data show that some residents' functional status improved over time, consistent with the finding that some left because care was no longer needed.

6.4 Comparing HOPE IV and CHSP Outcomes

Both HOPE IV and CHSP provided services to frail, low income elderly community residents at risk of needing to move to a higher level of care. As the data presented in the preceding sections show, the participants in the two programs were generally similar both in their levels and patterns of needs and in the services they received. HOPE IV included a larger proportion of younger, more ADL-impaired elderly, and CHSP had somewhat more participants who were very old. And, although participants in both programs met periodically with the Service Coordinator to discuss service needs, CHSP participants had more informal on-going interaction with the Service Coordinator, who worked on site in the development.

The basic issue to be addressed is: Are HOPE IV and CHSP similar in their patterns of program exits and other outcomes? If not, what are the reasons for the differences, and what can be learned from them? For both programs, data on resident location were collected 24 months after the baseline for all residents surveyed at the baseline. For HOPE IV participants who remained in the program were surveyed again, and data on those who had left the program were obtained from the service coordinator or other proxy source. These data allow a comparison of program continuation and, for those who left, reasons for leaving, for the whole population who entered these programs at the baseline.

6.4.1 Exiting from HOPE IV and CHSP

Table 6.3 summarizes the data on program continuation and exits for the two programs. These data show, first, that about half the residents who entered HOPE IV or CHSP were still in the program 24 months later.

Second, comparably a small percentage (7 percent of HOPE IV, 10 percent of CHSP) had dropped their participation in the supportive services program but remained in their respective HUD-assisted housing.

Third, mortality was similar for the two groups, between 11-15 percent of the program entrants. For both programs, the level of mortality among those who reported 2 or fewer ADL limitations was very similar to that of participants classified as more highly ADL-impaired. This provides support for the view that HOPE IV and CHSP accurately targeted their services to relatively frail populations, but some participants under-reported their ADL impairments.

	Program		
Outcome	HOPE IV (n=540) (%)	CHSP (n=540) (%)	
Remained in program	53	51	
Dropped out of supportive services Program (remained in congregate housing)	7	10	
Died	15	11	
Moved to nursing home or other more Restrictive environment	9	25	
Moved to other or unknown location	16	3	

Table 6.3. HOPE IV and CHSP Program Continuation

The major difference between the two programs is that more CHSP than HOPE IV participants moved to a higher level of care, such as a nursing home or assisted living facility.³¹ When the proportion who moved to a higher level of care is analyzed within each of the age and ADL categories, the finding remains the same: at each age and frailty level, CHSP participants were more likely than HOPE IV participants to have gone to a nursing home, assisted living facility, or other similar environment.

Compared with HOPE IV participants and comparison group members as well as the general population of frail elderly in the National Long-term Care Survey (NLTCS), CHSP participation was associated with a higher likelihood of moving to a nursing home or other higher-level care facility. The reasons for these differences are unclear. One possible reason for the higher rate of nursing home placement among CHSP participants is that they had less family support available, as suggested by the findings on frequency of seeing family in Chapter 5. Another possibility is that CHSP residents were considerably older than HOPE IV tenants within each age and ADL category. While the ADL limitation profiles were similar for the two groups of participants, age may have contributed to the decline in functioning and nursing home placement among those in CHSP. The two possibilities are not mutually exclusive either because most of the higher percentage of HOPE IV participants who moved to another (non-nursing home) location moved in with family members. Moreover, as seen above, those CHSP participants with several family resources were more likely to stay in the programs.

³¹ Even if the "unknown location" cases are excluded for the HOPE IV group and the proportion who moved to a higher level of care recalculated without them, the percentage of HOPE IV participants who made such a transition is increased only to 9 percent, so the finding remains unchanged.

6.4.2 Sociability and Social Contacts

Looking at who exited and who remained in their respective programs is but one outcome of interest. Social isolation is always a concern for the frail elderly population, particularly those who live alone, as did many of the participants in both the HOPE IV and CHSP. *Taken together, the data suggest that very few HOPE IV or CHSP participants were isolated or lonely.*

The data on frequency of social contact give little cause for alarm for either HOPE IV or CHSP participants, the vast majority of whom saw or spoke to someone at least on a monthly basis. Isolation might potentially be a problem for a small segment (roughly one-fifth to one-quarter) of the HOPE IV group, depending on whether it was the same individuals who had neither in-person nor telephone contact with anyone at least monthly. Nevertheless, Program participation, which stimulated social contact with service providers and the Service Coordinator, would have been a benefit in itself for this group. In addition, both HOPE IV and CHSP participants reported infrequent feelings of loneliness, and almost all indicated they had a confidante.

What is noteworthy is how similar the HOPE IV and comparison group members were in their patterns of social contact and how dramatically these contrasted with the patterns of the CHSP residents. These differences are at least partly attributable to differences in the congregate versus scattered site living environments

Both HOPE IV groups exhibited strongly bimodal patterns of either very infrequent (less than once a month) or quite frequent (several days a week or more) in-person and telephone contact both with children and friends and neighbors. By contrast, the pattern of in-person contact with family was much more even for the CHSP participants, who tended to see family members less often than the HOPE IV groups but to speak to them more often on the telephone. However, CHSP residents had a much higher frequency of both in-person and phone contact with friends and neighbors.

Not surprisingly, congregate settings appear to encourage greater sociability with friends and neighbors. By contrast, the HOPE IV groups' more frequent in-person contact with their children may reflect that the latter assumed a greater share of the responsibility for maintaining in-person contact in the absence of such a peer support network of friends and neighbors. Following this line of reasoning, the CHSP participants' children could "afford" to rely more heavily on telephone contact to keep in touch, knowing their parents lived in the more sociable congregate setting. Another issue of policy relevance concerns the impact of program participation on the frail elderly individuals' social networks. On the whole, participating in HOPE IV enhanced the participants' social lives and feelings of social well being. This is particularly noteworthy given that over 40 percent of participants had moved before entering the Program. The HOPE IV participants' in-person contacts with children, as well as with friends and neighbors, increased between baseline and follow-up, as did their level of out-of-home social activity. From a subjective perspective, as well, most were happy with their level of social activity, and reasonably content with the frequency of visits from family and friends.

At the very least, the increase in frequency of social contact and social activity between baseline and follow-up represents a "normalization" of social relationships for participants with the benefit of two years in which to have adjusted to any temporary social dislocations caused by Program entry. That it may represent something more is suggested by the finding that, at follow-up, HOPE IV participants had more social contact with friends and neighbors than did comparison group members, who had lived in their Section 8 housing for much longer. *This raises the intriguing possibility that, for some, entering the HOPE IV Program may have energized their social lives*.

The policy implications of these findings are two-fold:

--There was no "substitution effect"—the HOPE IV participants' children did not visit their frail elderly parents less often now that the latter were receiving formal supportive services. Moreover, most visiting time was spent in informal socializing and chatting. These findings, consistent with the results of other studies, should serve to allay policymakers' concerns that receipt of formal services will undermine informal patterns of assistance and socialization with children.

--Contrary to what might have been expected for a scattered site program in which nearly half of the participants had to move, over the long run, Program participation did not have a negative impact on the HOPE IV participants' social lives. If anything, the opposite was true. In their tendency to focus on the potentially disruptive consequences of moving, researchers may be underestimating the resilience of the frail elderly and their ability to form and sustain social ties later in life. At the very least, these findings should help to allay concerns that entering a scattered site program such as HOPE IV will necessarily undermine or permanently damage frail elderly participants' social networks, which is not to say that moving did not, or will not, have other negative consequences.

6.4.3 Services

Another outcome was access to needed services. The entire range of services available varied considerably both within and across the two Programs. However, the vast majority of HOPE IV and CHSP projects offered a similar "core" set of services: virtually all offered housekeeping and meals, two-thirds offered personal assistance services, and about three-quarters of HOPE IV and one-half of CHSP projects offered transportation.

There were strong similarities on the recipients' end, as well: about four-fifths of both HOPE IV and CHSP participants got housekeeping, one-half received transportation services, and a little less than one-third got in-home health services. Although a much smaller percentage of the comparison group received housekeeping and transportation, a similar percentage got in-home health and personal assistance. The similarity in the percentages receiving in-home health and personal assistance may reflect similar levels of frailty in the three groups. These findings may also suggest that HOPE IV had the greatest "value added" in provision of housekeeping and transportation services.

HOPE IV and CHSP participants were very satisfied with the types and amounts of supportive services they received; HOPE IV participants were even more satisfied at follow-up than they had been at baseline. Housekeeping ranked first on the list for the few who did want more of their current services. However, comparison group members, many fewer of whom received supportive services in addition to rental assistance, were only slightly more likely than HOPE IV participants to say they needed more or other services. While not denying the very real value of the services provided by the HOPE IV and CHSP, these findings may suggest that frail elderly tend to be extremely grateful for and satisfied with whatever services they are getting.

HOPE IV participants considered housekeeping and rental assistance the two services most important in enabling them to continue living independently in their own homes.

6.4.4 Service Coordinators

The availability and impact of service coordination as an advocacy and stewardship function was a key outcome as well. HOPE IV and CHSP Service Coordinators played a pivotal role that went well beyond their formal job descriptions. In many ways, it was the Service Coordinators who came to define the character of these programs. This an important finding, especially given evidence from the SCP evaluation that Service Coordinators can be successfully "grafted onto" existing housing programs. In the absence of monies to create entire new programs such as HOPE IV and CHSP, providing additional funding for Service Coordinators may be the best way to diffuse some of their benefits to the broader population of frail elderly living in HUD-assisted housing.

Differences in how the Service Coordinator role developed in HOPE IV as opposed to the CHSP and SCP are linked to the qualitatively different requirements of establishing a program of service coordination and supportive services in a Section 8 versus a congregate housing environment Largely because the grantee PHAs were unprepared for the scope and level of demands for enrolling frail elderly participants, HOPE IV Service Coordinators took on an unexpectedly heavy load of often unanticipated "front end" activities associated with recruiting, assessing, and enrolling participants. Since recruitment and assessment were continuous, many HOPE IV Service Coordinators experienced a conflict between attending to these "front end" activities and taking care of the ongoing needs of the already enrolled participants. By contrast, partly because prospective participants already resided in the buildings, recruitment and assessment only occupied a major share of the CHSP and SCP Service Coordinators' time during program start-up, after which they could turn their attention to ongoing case management responsibilities. In effect, it was the Service Coordinators who paid the largest part of the price for the HOPE IV grantee PHAs' inexperience in dealing with frail elderly in the context of the Section 8 program. This should serve as an object lesson in any future efforts to bring service coordination to frail elderly populations in Section 8 or other scattered site housing.

Despite very high levels of satisfaction with their Service Coordinators across all three groups, the nature of the Service Coordinators' relationship to the frail elderly program participants was somewhat different in HOPE IV as contrasted with the CHSP and SCP. Participants in all three programs emphasized the help they got from their Service Coordinators in linking them with, and informing them about, services in their communities. However, although HOPE IV participants placed equally great emphasis on the Service Coordinator's assistance with obtaining housing and rental assistance, CHSP and SCP participants were more likely to see their Service Coordinators as persons with whom to talk and work out solutions to their problems. Observers of the CHSP and SCP also commented on the reassuring nature of the Service Coordinator's day-to-day presence in the apartment buildings.

Again, these differences appear to reflect differences between the HOPE IV Program, on the one hand, and the CHSP and SCP, on the other. Conceptually, HOPE IV and CHSP both provided a combination of housing assistance, service coordination and supportive services. But, experientially, the

supportive service and service coordination components of the CHSP were "overlays" insofar as the CHSP participants, as well as their SCP counterparts, were already living in the housing facilities. It was only in HOPE IV that the housing came as part of the new package that the evaluation explored. Thus, not surprisingly, HOPE IV participants saw provision of rental assistance as a critical part of the Service Coordinators' role. In the congregate setting, program participants and Service Coordinators saw one another more frequently on a day-to-day basis, which allowed for the growth of a relationship in which Service Coordinators could provide help with small, routine daily tasks. Hence, the CHSP and SCP participants' characterizations of their Service Coordinators as "friends" who offered solutions to their problems. By contrast, HOPE IV participants in scattered site settings saw their Service Coordinators less often, and mainly to discuss their service plans. Similarly, because they were located on-site, the CHSP and SCP Service Coordinators could maintain a continuous "presence" of a sort that was not possible for their HOPE IV counterparts who served a dispersed population.

These findings should not be taken to mean that service coordinator programs can only work in congregate settings, but, rather, that Service Coordinators perform somewhat different, but equally important, functions in congregate versus scattered site settings. It is important to stress that it was the combination of service coordination, with supportive services from whatever source, that contributed to the success of the programs.

.

.

7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS OF THE HOPE IV AND CHSP PROGRAMS

This chapter presents the lessons learned from the evaluations of HOPE IV and CHSP and the implications for public policy affecting housing and services for the aging. These two programs comprise a rich body of experience that can inform and support the development of effective legislation and programs for low-income, frail elderly persons.

Each of several suggested policy initiatives appears below in italics followed by a brief explanation and recommendations for action, based on the evaluations' findings.

1. The role of the HOPE IV and CHSP Service Coordinators was essential for not only linking participants with services, but also creating an internal grantee climate conducive to the successful design and implementation of the two programs. In the absence of new funding for HOPE IV and CHSP, HUD might consider expanding and allowing the Service Coordinators who now support congregate housing, to operate within HUD tenant-based programs as well. This expansion of the Service Coordinator's role would create a locus within the PHA for recruitment, placement, and arranging supportive services for frail elderly tenants and new applicants for Section 8 rental assistance. Enhancing the capacity of PHAs in this regard is particularly important given the recent federal legislation allowing the use of Section 8 Vouchers for a portion of costs for assisted living facilities.

Systemic change often requires the presence of a key individual to increase awareness among staff and promote policy and program initiatives, in this case to respond to the complex needs of a frail elderly population. The evaluations showed that prior to HOPE IV and CHSP, existing policies and procedures often discouraged application and participation in HUD housing assistance programs by eligible frail elderly persons. In-person application requirements, the need for assistance in locating accessible rental housing for elderly persons with functional limitations, the absence of linkages with service providers, and the steering of older applicants with service needs to other, restrictive options, often excluded frail elderly persons from HUD housing assistance programs altogether, especially tenant-based Section 8. These barriers adversely affected not only new frail elderly applicants, but also existing tenants and residents who had aged in place.

The HOPE IV and CHSP Service Coordinators played an important role in changing this restrictive orientation by educating existing PHA Section 8 staff and building managers, by developing linkages with other community agencies, and by providing case management services to individual HOPE IV and CHSP participants. At the national level, Congress and HUD could expand the Service

Coordinator funding and allow it to be used to address the concerns of frail elderly Section 8 Voucher holders. In addition to providing individual case management for these Section 8 tenants, Service Coordinators could provide an important PHA staff training and orientation function to help encourage frail elderly recruitment, placement, and the linkage with other community service providers. At the same time, expansion of the Service Coordinator Program to other congregate developments would enhance what has proven to be a successful addition to HUD housing assistance programs.

As a result of HOPE IV, there are already models for such broad-based PHA leadership positions and functions to address the needs of frail elderly tenants. For example, with supplemental HUD funding during the HOPE IV programs, grantees often hired staff and divided the responsibilities of the Service Coordinator between: 1) stewardship of the program as a staff function within the PHA and 2) case management services for individual clients, frequently through subcontracts with other community agencies.

The expansion of the Service Coordinator Program is especially important given the new legislative provisions for the use of Section 8 rental Vouchers for assisted living facilities. The law now allows Public Housing Agencies to designate assisted living facilities as eligible rental housing for the use of Section 8 Vouchers. The Voucher may pay for the cost of the housing component of assisted living but not the services, which must be financed separately with other funds. There is no provision for funding additional Section 8 rental Vouchers under this legislation, however.

In the absence of new tenant-based Section 8 funding, it is unlikely that this new legislation can succeed without the support of a Service Coordinator to ensure an internal PHA capacity and resolve to recruit and place frail elderly Voucher holders in assisted living facilities. All the barriers to frail elderly participation in tenant-based Section 8 — sizable impediments that the HOPE IV programs had to overcome to implement the demonstration — will continue to exist for this new assisted living initiative. In the absence of new funding, and without the stewardship of a Service Coordinator, few PHAs are likely to use their existing Section 8 Vouchers for this purpose. Competition for the current pool of Vouchers is keen, and waiting lists typically take several years to clear. Frail elderly persons who cannot apply for tenant-based Section 8 in-person or who may not be aware of waiting list openings due to their disabilities, could be summarily excluded from participation in this potentially important use of Section 8 Vouchers for assisted living.

2. To complement its housing assistance programs and facilitate an expanded role for the Service Coordinators, HUD could encourage the provision of supportive services for frail elderly Section 8 Voucher holders and congregate housing residents through formal linkages with other federal, state, and community-based programs on aging. This is especially important given the new legislation authorizing and funding the conversion of HUDsubsidized congregate housing to assisted living facilities, if third parties cover the costs of supportive services.

The HOPE IV and CHSP evaluations found that a key factor for the success of virtually all the programs was effective linkages and purchase of service agreements between the grantees and other community agencies operating programs on aging. Prior to HOPE IV and CHSP, such relationships were infrequent, and program grantees often tapped the resources of these other agencies to supplement the supportive services funding from HUD. This suggests that opportunities for collaboration and potentially beneficial relationships exist beyond the purview of HOPE IV and CHSP. Most of the community agencies that worked with the HOPE IV and CHSP grantees, such as Area Agencies on Aging, receive funding from the national, state, and local level, and Congress and HUD may be able to facilitate local partnerships thorough collaboration with the federal, state, and local agencies and organizations sponsoring such programs. For example, a HUD partnership with the HHS Administration on Aging could promote corresponding interaction at the state and local levels with State and Area Agencies on Aging. Across the country, there are 57 State Agencies on Aging, over 660 Area Agencies on Aging, and literally thousands of service providers funded by them that may be able to serve frail elderly participating in HUD housing assistance programs.

Apart from the issue of alternative funding, the results of the HOPE IV and CHSP programs raise a core policy issue for Congress and HUD to consider: deciding how to best serve the needs of its lowincome, frail-elderly constituency outside the bounds of housing assistance. In the past, Congress and HUD have funded many programs that combine housing assistance with various types of services for special populations. These include support for homeless persons and those with substance abuse problems, child care and other assistance to encourage tenant and resident employment, and a range of other services that recognize needs beyond housing assistance. Some of these programs have moved from an initial phase of development to on-going funding for PHAs, congregate housing developments, and other community agencies. Others, such as HOPE IV, have not.³²

³² For CHSP, there have been additional funds as the current grants expire. Each Federal Fiscal Year's expiring grants have been extended for one year since FY 1998. Also, when grant agreements expire, HUD provides amendments to those grantees that still have available funds to allow them to continue. Under HOPE IV, HUD has allowed grantees that have remaining funds to extend their project periods and continue using their awards. For both programs, the housing assistance component of the programs remains available to the participants.

An overriding policy concern for Congress and HUD, therefore, is determining whether the Department and its local agencies should address these special needs, such as supportive services for frail elderly, directly through funding and programs, or indirectly through collaborative relationships with other agencies that serve these special population groups. Combined approaches may be viable as well, with Congress and HUD providing demonstration or seed money to help identify long-term options for serving the diverse needs of low-income tenants and residents.

In particular, the HOPE IV and CHSP programs can offer many valuable lessons for guiding the new Congressional legislation authorizing and funding the conversion of Section 202 congregate housing projects to assisted living facilities. This legislation covers the housing but not the services costs of assisted living, which must be paid for through collaborative arrangements with other agencies, organizations, and programs that serve the needs of frail elderly persons. Bringing together the many key individuals who represent these diverse programs and funding streams is an extremely difficult but essential task in order to develop a viable conversion of a Section 202 building to an assisted living facility.

In addition to HOPE IV and CHSP, there are many other examples of states and communities consolidating and coordinating supportive services programs, in conjunction with HUD housing assistance, to create assisted living facilities and other housing and supportive services endeavors. For example, individual localities have developed community partnerships involving public housing, Section 202 projects, and Section 8 rental Vouchers, in conjunction with an array of supportive services. The services component of these ventures is often supported by multiple funding streams, including Medicaid Home and Community-Based Waivers financed by state appropriations and the U.S. Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA), Older Americans Act funding through State and Area Agencies on Aging, among many other sources... Documenting and disseminating the results of these successful efforts may help inform and support implementation of this new legislation, as suggested, below.

3. The HOPE IV and CHSP programs and evaluations constitute a valuable information resource, and Congress and HUD can encourage dissemination and utilization of the results through existing clearinghouse and communication mechanisms.

In addition to the evaluation reports, each HOPE IV and CHSP grantee developed a considerable body of printed material documenting and supporting the design and implementation of the programs. *HUD User* might acquire and abstract this specific documentation from the grantees and, proactively, make it available to other interested agencies and organizations. The program descriptions, operations manuals, recruitment materials, assessment instruments, partnership agreements, and other documents may be quite helpful to those wishing to adopt HOPE IV and CHSP models on their own and expand services to the frail elderly. Also, Internet access to these documents, or abstracts of them, could assist local agencies and others to identify and request material of interest to them.

HUD's Office of Policy Development and Research has a Division that deals exclusively with research utilization. This Division prepares a research dissemination strategy for the initial distribution of every PD&R report. This dissemination strategy targets the range of individuals, organizations, and entities that would benefit from the research findings. In addition, the *Recent Research Results* (RRR) publication is widely distributed as a vehicle for encouraging the application of HUD research findings and recommendations. Each report from PD&R research projects is available through *HUD User* and on the Internet through the World-Wide Web. This current HUD capacity provides an excellent opportunity to document and disseminate not only the research reports, but also the additional and potentially helpful documentation and best-practice information on which individual state and community leaders rely to foster creative partnerships and innovative programs.

Another approach to dissemination includes presentations at national conferences and publication of journal articles. For example, through the National Association of Housing and Redevelopment Officials (NAHRO), such efforts might encourage PHAs and congregate housing sponsors and managers to develop such programs by linking them with information and assistance from their peers in the program sites.

There are now specific models for the design, implementation, and operation of a Section 8 Voucher program or congregate housing developments that effectively combine case management and home care with housing assistance for frail elderly tenants and residents. In addition, there is an experienced and committed cadre of HOPE IV and CHSP staff and personnel from other partner agencies in the community who could potentially assist in the sharing of information and transfer of best-practice approaches. Congress and HUD could consider tapping this experience and making it available to others by sponsoring forums, training, and technical assistance to promote replication of the results of HOPE IV and CHSP. The study teams for these two evaluations have conducted many workshops on HOPE IV and CHSP at professional meetings, covering both housing and supportive services professionals, and we suggest that this practice continue. As the programs end, these grantee agency staff and written resources may become increasingly difficult for audiences to tap.

An important finding from the study was that even with the benefit of federal funding and local commitments to develop HOPE IV and CHSP, grantees often took considerable time to actually

implement these programs. In the absence of new financial support and in the face of such implementation difficulties, it is reasonable to assume that concerted Congressional and HUD policy and program initiatives, such as those highlighted in this section, are essential for adoption of these best practices.

For example, during the evaluations, the Service Coordinators said they would have benefited greatly from training, technical assistance, and the sharing of information among grantees on the initial development of the programs. This included having access to the underlying conceptual designs other grantees used, such as what structural and functional changes to make within the PHA or congregate housing developments, and what linkages to make with other community agencies already serving the case management and home care needs of frail elderly. This would have allowed building on and not duplicating the development of existing models. According to these Service Coordinators, such training and technical assistance also could have included guidance on the development of specific client assessment instruments and procedures for selecting eligible and appropriate participants for this program, given the common eligibility requirements.

4. Long waiting lists for congregate housing and limited availability of Section 8 rental Vouchers severely restrict opportunities to expand HUD housing assistance programs for a frail elderly constituency. Congress and HUD could provide incentives to PHAs and congregate housing developments that would help ensure that frail elderly are not summarily excluded from these very popular programs.

Concerning HOPE IV, the evaluation found that many PHA grantees applied for the demonstration funds in large part to overcome a severe shortage of Section 8 Vouchers, given the high demand for this program in general. Congress and HUD recognized this reality by including new funding for both Section 8 Vouchers and supportive services as part of HOPE IV demonstration awards. Waiting lists for Section 8 Vouchers often require more than two years to clear, which works to the considerable disadvantage of frail elderly applicants.

To address the waiting list problem under Section 8, Congress and HUD could permit PHAs to set aside a certain number of Vouchers for the frail elderly. Or they might offer additional Vouchers as an incentive to PHAs that commit to arranging supportive services through collaborative ventures with other agencies serving the elderly. In a similar vein, Congress and HUD could provide additional money for Service Coordinators as incentives to congregate housing sponsors who include a supportive services component through effective linkages with other community agencies. This is especially germane to the new legislation allowing the conversion of Section 202 projects and the use of Section 8 Vouchers for assistive living facilities.

5. HUD should continue to monitor the activities of HOPE IV and CHSP grantees after the programs end to determine how successful they were in continuing the program using alternative resources.

The loss of HOPE IV and CHSP funding creates an opportunity to determine if the programs can continue using other resources in the community. For example, based on meetings and discussions with HOPE IV Service Coordinators in April 1998, the grantees were confronting the end of the program in several ways. At least one of the demonstration sites was no longer recruiting and placing new HOPE IV participants when vacancies occurred, but most were filling vacancies when someone left the program. This meant that even as the programs neared their end, many of the participants were quite new to the program, and it was likely that their need for a Service Coordinator and supportive services would continue beyond the effective end of the program and available funds. In response to this situation, most Service Coordinators reported they were exploring alternative sources of funds, but they had made no specific provisions for continuation.

The evaluations have ended and will not be able to track how well the current programs have been able to continue as a result of contingency planning and alternative programming. For this reason, HUD should monitor the progress of these efforts by local grantees. This will identify how and to what extent the grantees and their other community partner agencies successfully incorporated the concepts and specific examples from the HOPE IV and CHSP projects into their on-going housing assistance and supportive services programs.

It is reasonable to assume that the greatest prospects for permanent adoption of the HOPE IV and CHSP models are at the original grantee sites. Tracking the efforts to sustain the program within these agencies will show both the viability of the programs for continuation on their own, and the specific steps and resources grantees might use to do so. This monitoring also will identify any risks to the health and safety of HOPE IV and CHSP participants who may no longer have access to the services they need as grantees exhaust their project funds.

6. An examination of the HOPE IV comparison group and current congregate housing residents revealed relatively high levels of frailty and unmet need for services among current recipients of HUD housing assistance. It is likely that these patterns of frailty exist in many other communities and HUD housing assistance programs that did not participate in HOPE

IV or CHSP. Congress and HUD could promote adoption of the HOPE IV and CHSP models for both existing tenants and residents, as well as for new Section 8 Voucher and congregate housing applicants.

The evaluations clearly showed that serving a frail elderly population involves not only reaching out to a new constituency, but also acknowledging and responding to the needs of existing HUD housing assistance recipients. Current residents of Section 8 scattered-site housing and congregate housing developments are aging in place, and a substantial number have levels of frailty similar to those of HOPE IV and CHSP participants.

For example, during the HOPE IV evaluation's comparison group selection process, random screening of elderly Section 8 Voucher holders who were not participating in HOPE IV revealed that one in five, or 20 percent, had levels of frailty similar to HOPE IV participants. At the same time, the study showed that over one-third of these persons were not receiving any services, despite similar indicators of need for services. All frail elderly CHSP participants came from within the current resident population, and it is likely that many other congregate housing developments have similar patterns of need.

7. HUD policies should ensure that frail elderly have a range of housing assistance options and the opportunity to choose from among them, rather than favoring either congregate or scattered-site programs. Comparing HOPE IV and CHSP operations and outcomes showed that one approach is not necessarily better than another. Tenant-based and project-based models for housing and supportive services are both essential for addressing the realities of an aging HUD constituency who current receive or are eligible for housing assistance.

The evaluations showed that both HOPE IV and CHSP were successful in terms of producing positive outcomes and generating a high level of satisfaction among program participants. However, Chapter 6 shows that turnover of participants was substantial, and during the two-year period between the baseline and follow-up periods, approximately 40 percent the HOPE IV and CHSP participants left their respective housing and services programs altogether, many as a function of increasing levels of frailty. This high exit rate suggests that the presence of ADL limitations beyond certain levels, even with a viable services component, may preclude participantion in tenant-based Section 8 or congregate housing for both current tenants or residents, and new applicants.

One critical policy issue, therefore, is deciding how to provide a range of choices and several levels of care in the community for frail elderly persons, rather than focusing on a narrow range of options. For example, Congress and HUD are beginning to explore how to provide the many benefits of assistive living to low-income, frail elderly eligible for HUD housing assistance. At this point in time, assistive living facilities that provide considerable flexibility and choice are an option for only high-income elderly in most cases.

Finally, emerging long-term care policy trends in the United States, in the public and private sectors, favor both home care models in scattered-site settings, similar to HOPE IV, and congregate programs with a services component, similar to CHSP. For instance, states are increasingly using Medicaid Waivers and other state-funded home care programs to provide case management and supportive services to frail elderly where they currently live, avoiding the need to move to more restrictive settings to qualify for care. At the same time, for those frail elderly who need additional supervision, congregate models that combine housing and services are becoming increasingly popular among providers, funding agencies, and the elderly as viable alternatives to nursing home placement. While the two new HUD legislative initiatives favor the assisted living model, it is important for HUD to encourage other congregate models, as well as the use of Section 8 Vouchers in conjunction with scattered-site rental housing and in-home services programs for low-income frail elderly persons.



.

A L DT AN LIVEL

·

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development HUD USER P.O. Box 6091 Rockville, MD 20849

Official Business Penalty for Private Use \$300 FIRST-CLASS MAIL POSTAGE & FEES PAID HUD Permit No. G-795

June 2000

